SHARED TRAUMA AFTER A FLOOD: A MANUAL FOR THERAPISTS

JOHNATHAN BOWN

Bachelor of Arts (Honours), Grant MacEwan University, 2009

A Project
Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies
of the University of Lethbridge
in Partial Fulfillment of the
Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF EDUCATION

(COUNSELLING PSYCHOLOGY)

FACULTY OF EDUCATION LETHBRIDGE, ALBERTA

May, 2015

SHARED TRAUMA AFTER A FLOOD: A MANUAL FOR THERAPISTS

JOHNATHAN BOWN

Approved:	
Supervisor: Blythe Shepard, Ph.D.	Date
Committee Member: Noella Piquette, Ph.D.	Date
Assistant Dean of Graduate Studies and Research in Education: Richard Butt, Ph.D.	Date

Abstract

Floods disasters are the most common type of natural disaster, and represent the most costly natural disaster in terms of property loss for Canada. Strong evidence shows that floods can have powerful long-term negative effects on mental health and can lead to post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, and anxiety. When counsellors are also victims of the disaster, a shared trauma scenario is created where resources and relationship boundaries are strained. The contentious issue of therapist self-disclosure needs to be considered as disclosures occur both willfully and unintentionally. A research-based manual was created for use in post-disaster situations to guide clinicians via effective and safe recovery strategies. The manual is based on a thorough literature review and synthesizes the findings into a two-part document. The first section of the manual is a concise presentation of the most high-impact concepts clinicians need to know. The second section of the manual is a brief and clear presentation of the key strategies readers can leverage to help their clients. The final product is expected to alleviate the stress of decision-making for counsellors under distress and facilitate rapid effective responses.

Acknowledgements

I cannot thank my supervisor, Dr. Blythe Shepard, enough. You were graceful and wise throughout all the different permutations of this work. Your positive and caring spirit was a continual source of inspiration for me and I am honoured to have created this project with you.

To Dr. Noella Piquette, you patiently stuck with me since this project was only a thesis proposal. I am deeply thankful for your guidance and sharp wisdom. Your input has undoubtedly improved this work, fostered a deeper appreciation of qualitative research in me, and helped me grow as a student.

To Dawn, you've been so patient and supportive of me any time I've needed to focus on this work – despite the long hours and missed dates. Having you in my life has been a blessing and now I can show you my appreciation.

Table of Contents

Abstractii	i
Acknowledgements iv	7
Table of contents	7
Chapter One: Introduction1	
Purpose and Value of Project	
Personal Interest in the Research 6	
Summary and Overview	
Chapter Two: Literature Review 9	
Natural Disasters 9	
Floods)
Floods in Canada	L
Floods in Alberta	L
Negative Psychological Effects of Floods	;
Posttraumatic Growth	
Shared Trauma	,
The therapeutic relationship and shared trauma	
Therapist Self-disclosure	
Types of self-disclosure	,
Usage of self-disclosure in therapy	7
Outcomes of therapist self-disclosure)
Relationships and Recovery)

1	Narrative Exposure Therapy	. 31
	Summary	32
Chapter	Three: Methods	34
S	Search Terms	34
]	Developing the Manual	. 36
]	Ethical Considerations	37
	Summary	. 37
Chapter	Four: Synopsis	. 38
(Overview of the Manual	38
]	Expected Outcomes and Strengths	40
]	Limitations	40
]	Reflections	40
S	Summary	41
Referen	ces	. 43
Manual		59

Chapter One: Introduction

In the middle of June, 2013, rain had been falling in the Canadian province of Alberta for many days. On the 19th day, major rivers and their tributaries could no longer contain the deluge. This would be the costliest natural disaster in Canada's history.

Graveland (2013) writes:

Abandoned vehicles, smashed out windows and total devastation make this flood ravaged town closely resemble a war zone, right down to the soldiers and rumble of military vehicles on the streets.

The flood waters that overran the community south of Calgary on Thursday are receding but mainstreet is littered with several abandoned vehicles. There's a sour smell in the air, and the ground is covered with mud. A lazy boy rocking chair was sitting in the middle of one intersection.

The windows in a shop were smashed, perhaps from the force of the water, and the merchandise may have floated out the door. ("Alberta floods", para. 1-3)

The cities, towns, and residences in the flood zone were not prepared for the magnitude of this disaster despite contending with numerous floods in the past. The impact of this flood will be felt for decades.

Natural disasters are a global phenomenon, affecting people from all walks of life. Earthquakes, tsunamis, tornadoes, fires, and floods are a few types of natural disaster - all of which have serious and long-term negative impacts on people's lives. Floods are among the most disruptive and costly form of natural disaster (Alliance Development Works, 2012), and their occurrence is projected to increase as Earth's climate changes and the polar icecaps melt (Huntington, 2006; Wilby & Keenan, 2012). The severity of each flood disaster will also increase over time as (a) the size of the hydrological event intensifies, (b) the global economy grows leading to higher financial damages, (c) the human population increases, and (d) land development continues inside hazard zones

(Andersen & Shepherd, 2013; Irish & Resio, 2013; Kollat, Kasprzyk, Thomas, Miller, & Divoky, 2012).

The need for comprehensive research around disaster response is paramount. To date, most research looking at the mental health outcomes of disasters is focused on either first-responders or victims (Alderman, Turner, & Tong, 2012; Stanley, Bulecza, & Gopalani, 2012) - less attention has been given to second responders, and even less so to second responders who are also victims of the disaster to which they are responding. When such a scenario occurs, scholars have used the term "shared trauma" to describe the relationship between second responders and people who endured the same trauma (Tosone, Nuttman-Shwartz, & Stephens, 2012). In shared trauma situations, relationships and roles inevitably become quite complex. Service workers often cannot avoid crossing relationship boundaries due to physical restrictions or emotional emergencies (Baum, 2010; Phelps, Lloyd, Creamer, & Forbes, 2009).

Counsellors, psychologists, and mental health workers have a precarious role in the aftermath of a natural disaster. In many instances, these people live and work in the same location and could be victims of the same trauma that their clients endured. As second responders, they must work with clients who have emergent problems related to very similar experiences that they personally experienced. Oftentimes, therapists will not have a choice about which clients they work with after a disaster for two reasons: more clients seek therapy while many therapists move away (Jones, Immel, Moore, & Hadder, 2008; Madrid & Grant, 2008; Mitchell, Witman, & Taffaro, 2008). Research has indicated that in the wake of a natural disaster, not only do recovery resources become scarce, but so do second-responder personnel like counsellors and therapists. This is due

to increased demand for their services; but also due to many therapists choosing to immediately relocate along with the general population to less hazardous geographical locations. The reality is often that remaining therapists are forced to make the best of a bad situation - and that often means taking risks in the client's best interest. The most common therapeutic risk that occurs in shared trauma situation is the usage of self-disclosure (Tosone et al., 2003), which is when a counsellor reveals something personal about themselves. Often this is done with the intention of normalizing the situation or building rapport, but it carries significant risk. This is a subject of much debate among scholars, but some therapists and scholars are calling for a greater understanding and acceptance of this risky maneuver (Audet, 2011).

Therapist self-disclosure is a subject that is particularly relevant in post-disaster scenarios because it serves to validate reality and normalize the situation for clients (Bedi, Davis, & Williams, 2005; Kar, 2009; Madrid & Grant, 2008). Furthermore, depending on circumstances, self-disclosure is also a way to share resources or to facilitate individual growth. Other outcomes include the building of rapport or fostering greater understanding and respect between counsellor and client (Barnett, 2011; Nyman & Daugherty, 2001). The role of self-disclosure in therapy under normal circumstances has been part of a contentious debate spanning nearly one hundred years of research (Cozby, 1973; Glue & O'Neill, 2010). Proponents of therapist self-disclosure generally align themselves with a humanist or feminist theoretical orientation (Hanson, 2005; Simi & Mahalik, 1997), whereas those who discourage therapist self-disclosure do so from an ethical standpoint, warning that it can be exploitative (Craig, 1991; Lazarus & Zur, 2002). Ultimately, the usage of self-disclosure by the therapist is likely a contextually dependent

variable and subject to the personal style of the therapist, but is nonetheless a highly relevant topic when it comes to disaster recovery.

Outside of therapy, self-disclosure is related to core components in the process of posttraumatic growth (Joseph & Linley, 2005; Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996) – which is a surprising phenomenon that can occur for individuals after surviving a disaster. Rather than impaired interpersonal relationships, negative mental states, and emotional dysregulation, a person who experiences post-traumatic growth will have their life enriched. Through the telling of personal hardships and successes, people are forced to confront their perceptions of value and meaning and are compelled to consider new perspectives on a given situation (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). In a counselling situation, this dynamic exists but becomes more complicated. Therapist self-disclosure is a part of the larger discussion occurring between client and therapist, and elicits the client to compare, consider, and communicate their experience back to the therapist. This results in the therapist reprocessing their traumatic experience, while at the same time experiencing the client's stories (Hernández, Engstrom, & Gangsei, 2010; Splevins, Cohen, Joseph, Murray, & Bowley, 2010); both events are components of posttraumatic growth and may lead to the strengthening of the real relationship in the dyad and therefore an increase in the quality of life for the client.

Ultimately, when therapist and client have a relationship of shared trauma it seems that the process of self-disclosure assumes an uncertain but potentially powerful role. The relevance of the therapist's disaster-related experiences is increased and these experiences can be explored with the client to achieve a deep level of understanding. Posttraumatic growth may result from this process due to the acknowledgement of a

common ground or simply through the elicited reprocessing of the traumatic event by either client or counsellor. In turn, the strength of the therapeutic relationship may be influenced by this technique or the experience of shared trauma.

Purpose and Value of Project

With the increasing impact of disasters around the world, a deep understanding about the processes of recovery is needed. The main objective of this project is to provide counsellors in shared trauma situations an empirically valid knowledge base for decision making geared towards reducing risk and maximizing client outcomes. To do so, the following research question will drive this project:

 What do counsellors need to know to successfully and ethically navigate shared trauma following a flood disaster?

To address the question, this project will outline the creation of a brief manual for use by mental health professionals. With the increasing impact of flood disasters around the world, a synthesis of research findings about disaster response would be beneficial for all secondary responders and those they help. Specifically, there is a lack of information on how to navigate a shared trauma scenario after a flood disaster in an effective and ethical manner. The impact of a large flood disaster places people in vulnerable positions and sensitive counselling work is paramount - as research has highlighted the volatile nature of post-disaster scenarios. The present study attempts to gather important information about disaster recovery and thereby provide counsellors with some tools for helping clients heal. Shared trauma scenarios occur infrequently, but when they do it is usually during times of community recovery and scarce resources. Shared trauma situations require skilled and sensitive navigation guided by research. Therefore, this project also

attempts to contribute to the growing body of knowledge about shared trauma resources by providing mental health professionals with a useful and practical resource for navigating the therapeutic and ethical demands of a flood disaster.

Personal Interest in the Research

My interest in this topic comes from having friends and family who directly experienced the flooding of central Alberta in 2013, as well as my proximity to the event. I encountered people who were devastated from the disaster and doing their best to recover. The community of High River came together to support each other – from collecting community donations at commercial restaurants to relentless volunteer efforts. Living away from the disaster and focused on school, I recognized that I was limited in how I could contribute to the recovery, but I could make a scholarly contribution. A manual is often a practical resource for professionals and it would be a product I could create within the bounds of my academic program. Brief, concise, and informative – a manual with an empirically valid knowledge base could be instrumental when the next inevitable flood occurs. I believe that this work could not only benefit the victims of future Alberta floods, but also provide a meaningful contribution to the counselling profession in the area of disaster recovery in other contexts.

This project was conceived during my time as a student in the Master of Education (Counselling) program at the University of Lethbridge. While considering the impact of the floods, the question of how shared trauma relates to self-disclosure in practice arose. I became curious how this complicated dynamic affects the outcome for clients, and hoped that something of value could be discovered or synthesized from existing research.

Summary and Overview

More than ever in Alberta, research towards improving natural disaster relief services is needed. The flood disaster of 2013, affecting thousands of Albertans and costing upwards of \$6 billion dollars in terms of economic damage, may be analyzed to help future efforts. The present study seeks to help second-responder mental-health workers by developing a practical manual to help guide therapeutic interventions and practices after a major flood. More precisely, this research will explore what techniques practicing psychotherapists use in counselling contexts where they were victims of the same disaster their clients endured, and what advice they can give for future occurrences. Among other elements of counselling, the exploration of therapist self-disclosure and post-traumatic growth for their potential benefits will be emphasized.

Following this introduction, chapter two of this proposal reviews key literature about natural disasters and floods in a Canadian context. Particular emphasis is placed on floods in Alberta, as they are a recurrent hazard and a recent Alberta flood provides a rich dataset to refer to and creates the context for the issue. The review then explores important facets of shared trauma in a counselling scenario and draws from reports and research from past large-scale societal disasters (i.e., the World Trade Centre attacks in New York on September 11, 2001, etc.). The concept of post-traumatic growth is introduced since it has implications for the therapeutic relationship and may be related to self-disclosure practices. This is followed by key research about therapist self-disclosure with a discussion about the many categories of self-disclosure and the controversies surrounding its usage. Additional significant elements to disaster recovery will be touched upon before concluding with a summary of the concepts covered in the literature

review to tie them together to form the theoretical foundation for this study.

Chapter three describes the methods used to address the research question and create the manual. A detailed description of how information will be gathered, curated, and synthesized into the final product is included. Additionally, an outline of the manual's overall organization is presented along with the rationale. The chapter concludes with a brief discussion about ethical considerations and a summary.

Chapter four presents a detailed description of the content of the manual, why it was included, and the intended purpose of the information. Additionally, the expectations of the manual are outlined along with some of its strengths and limitations. Finally, a personal reflection on the outcome of the manual precedes a summary of the chapter.

Following chapter four and the references section is a copy of the manual itself. It includes a cover page and copyright information in addition to the content so that it may be extracted from this document and distributed to interested parties. However, for readability, the manual's table of contents reflects the pagination of this document and should be updated if extracted.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

This chapter provides an overview of the literature related to the present research question, "What do counsellors need to know to successfully and ethically navigate shared trauma following a flood disaster?" This review begins by introducing some of the research on global natural disasters and then focuses on flood disasters in Alberta. The subsequent sections explore the concepts of shared trauma and post-traumatic growth followed by a detailed review of therapist self-disclosure. This section of the project concludes with a summary of the literature.

Natural Disasters

Natural disasters are widespread crises that can affect people on all levels of functioning. The International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC) defines Natural disasters as, " ... a sudden, calamitous event that seriously disrupts the functioning of a community or society and causes human, material, and economic or environmental losses that exceed the community's or society's ability to cope using its own resources" (http://www.ifrc.org). Between 2002 and 2011, more than one million people were victims of 4,130 reported natural disasters worldwide, which resulted in more than one trillion dollars (USD) of economic damage (Alliance Development Works, 2012). In 2012 alone, 357 natural disasters were recorded across the planet (Guha-sapir, Hoyois, & Below, 2012). Natural disaster incidents are a basic characteristic of our planet, and as such cannot be avoided. The Geneva Conventions acknowledge the pervasive danger of natural disasters around the world and declared that people affected by disasters will be protected under international law and mandated that states must take all necessary measures to ensure the protection and safety of victims

(Terminski, 2011).

Natural disasters include events like tornadoes, tsunamis, earthquakes, floods, fires, droughts, and severe storms among others (IFRC, n.d.). Regional features and climates are related to natural disaster types and frequency. However, their impact can be mitigated through better preparation and response guided by research.

Floods

Floods accounted for 49% of types of natural disasters in 2012 and are the most common type of natural disaster around the world (Guah-sapir et al., 2012). Floods are the least likely form of natural disaster to cause deaths, but are among the most disruptive to daily life (Alliance Development Works, 2012). Compared to fires, earthquakes, tornados, storms, and droughts, floods affect the largest amount of people and are a leading cause of property damage. Floodwaters destroy homes, disable community infrastructure, displace communities, destroy farmland, and have the longest lasting events. Research indicates that the number of victims and the economic costs of flooding continue to increase as the population and economy grow, and as new human developments are built in danger zones (Ashley & Ashley, 2008). Global flood occurrence is projected to increase over time as Earth's climate changes and sea levels rise (Huntington, 2006; Wilby & Keenan, 2012), and the size of floods will intensify (Andersen & Shepherd, 2013; Irish & Resio, 2013).

Flood prediction is the single most effective method of reducing risk and damage (Hunt, 2002). Over the last 10 years there have been major improvements in flood forecasting and prevention, although most efforts have been directed at forecasting coastal flooding. In contrast to coastal flood disasters, which generally occur from

hurricanes, earthquakes, or underwater seismic events, river flooding is caused primarily from precipitations (Hartmann & Andresky, 2013; Lane et al., 2013; Viero, D'Alpaos, Carniello, & Defina, 2013). Therefore, inland regions focus their flood prevention strategies on building dam systems and catchments to control river overflow.

Organizations responsible for ensuring proper flood preventions are exist at local and provincial/territorial levels.

Floods in Canada. Floods are Canada's most costly natural disaster in terms of property loss (Government of Canada, 2001). Across Canada, provincial and territorial governments are responsible for the legislation about natural disaster response and hazard plans, and for providing emergency response assistance to municipal governments (Public Safety Canada, 2013a). Municipal governments are directly responsible for implementing project teams to mitigate risks and respond to disasters, including floods (Groeneveld, 2006; Public Safety Canada, 2013a). Unfortunately, the costly nature of flooding often overwhelms even the best-laid plans of local authorities, and crisis situations emerge. When assistance is requested from provincial or federal bodies, the response can be delayed or misappropriated due to the large number of actors involved – and communities suffer (Madrid & Grant, 2008). This unfortunate reality compounds the problem of people's lifestyles, routines, careers, and accomplishments being disrupted.

Floods in Alberta. Hayashi (2006), a geography professor at the University of Calgary, reports that southern Alberta suffered major floods in 1902, 1915, 1923, 1929, 1932, and 2005. A series of dams were sufficient to prevent major flooding between 1932 and 2005. Unfortunately, the flooding of June 2005 overwhelmed the dams and caused the death of three people as well as \$165 million dollars in disaster recovery service

payments (Groeneveld, 2006). Forty thousand homes were damaged and over 7000 people were evacuated in the disaster (Public Safety Canada, 2013b). In 2008, floodwaters threatened the town of High River once again and nearly paralleled the disaster of 2005, but preventative measures managed to mitigate the threat.

In June 2013, Alberta suffered the worst flooding in its history according to government officials (Godkin, 2013). The floods affected southern Alberta, leading to 27 local states of emergency being declared (Harris, 2013), including the city of Calgary, the town of High River, and the town of Turner Valley, which were heavily damaged.

Canadian Armed Forces evacuated all 13,000 residents of High River for more than one week (Gignac, 2013), and hundreds needed rooftop rescue. As of September 2013, three months after the flood, more than 2,000 residents were still living in emergency housing, one thousand students remained displaced from schools, and five health facilities had been operationally damaged (Capstick, 2013). Over \$200 million dollars had been disbursed to municipal governments and residents directly for assistance and, ultimately, the floods are estimated to cause in excess of \$5 billion dollars of economic damage making them the most costly natural disaster in Canada's history (Canadian Press, 2013).

The Alberta government declared in October, 2013 that land titles held in flood hazard areas will not be eligible for assistance in the future (Range, 2013), increasing the vulnerability of those affected. The provincial and federal governments are sending financial aid to the victims, as many do not have insurance or their insurance will not cover their losses. However, there are many other people who will not even be heard or helped in the wake of any widespread disaster.

Negative Psychological Effects of Floods

The need for effective disaster response and management is paramount, and must include a framework for case identification and intervention of mental health within existing emergency medical and trauma response (North & Pfefferbaum, 2013). Strong evidence shows that floods can have powerful and long-term negative effects on mental health (Green, 1998; Kõlves, Kõlves, & De Leo, 2013; Rubonis & Bickman, 1991), and can lead to post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, and anxiety (Neria, Nandi, & Galea, 2008; North & Pfefferbaum, 2013; Wang, Chan, & Ho, 2013).

The clinical disorder most commonly found among people exposed to a natural disaster is PTSD (Friedman, Keane, & Resick, 2010). The symptoms include emotional numbing, unwanted mental re-experience of the event, avoidance, nightmares, and anxiety (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The acquisition of PTSD is not solely dependent on the associated event; rather, it is determined by an individual's perception of events. Regarding the prevalence of PTSD following a natural disaster, estimates vary widely (Mason, Andrews, & Upton, 2010). Reports of PTSD one to two years following the disaster range from five to sixty percent prevalence rate, with the mean towards the lower half of this range (Galea, Nandi, & Vlahov, 2005). Specific to floods, Mason and colleagues (2010) performed a cross-sectional study following extensive flooding in the United Kingdoms and found that twenty-eight percent of people scored over the threshold for potentially having PTSD on the Harvard Trauma Questionnaire.

Norris, Friedman, and Watson (2002) found that the second most commonly found disorder following any type of natural disaster was depression. Estimates of prevalence also vary widely. The same researchers also reported that the third most

common psychological disturbance was anxiety with more frequent diagnoses of generalized anxiety disorder. Specific to flood disasters, Mason and colleagues (2010) found that twenty-five percent of flood victims met the criteria for anxiety, and thirty-five percent of victims met the criteria for depression. These results are broadly consistent with past research on all types of natural disaster.

Researching a 6.3 magnitude earthquake in Italy, Tempesta, Curcio, De Gennaro, and Ferrara (2013) found that victims suffered reduced sleep quality and increased disruptive nocturnal behaviours even two years after the event. This research suggests that some of the long-term effects of experiencing a natural disaster can be pervasive yet difficult to detect. Another significant consideration about natural disasters is the loss of pets. Hunt, Al-Awadi, and Johnson (2008) examined the effects of losing or abandoning a companion animal during hurricane Katrina and discovered that psychopathology was strongly associated with the loss of the pet. Acute stress, depressive symptoms, and peritraumatic dissociation were found when controlling for other losses. These symptoms are known risk factors for long-term posttraumatic stress disorder (Thomas, Saumier, & Brunet, 2012). When disasters occur people may lose their pets or be separated from them during an enforced evacuation. Natural disasters also cause major psychosocial resource loss, which amplifies the negative psychological effects of a disaster (Smith & Freedy, 2000). For example, floods can destroy the physical place of business for some people, their means to conduct business, or even cause the loss of contracts leaving people with severely reduced resources. Compounded negative psychosocial effects with psychological distress can lead to profound long-term, gradual, co-morbid psychosocial

problems (Friel et al., 2011). However, humans are resilient beings and some traumatic events can be transformed into positive outcomes.

Posttraumatic Growth

Not all psychological outcomes of disasters are negative. There is a growing body of evidence that suggests post-traumatic growth can also follow from a flood disaster (Joseph & Linley, 2005; Joseph, Murphy, & Regel, 2012; Tang 2006). Post-traumatic growth is a wide-ranging concept still in development (Joseph et al., 2012), but has been described as a catalyst for positive change following a traumatic experience (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). As a catalyst, posttraumatic growth requires three necessary precursors (Stanton & Low, 2004). The first is a significant challenge to core cognitive schemas regarding self or the world. That is, an event must occur that defies how a person has come to accept themselves or the environment they live in. For example, if a person felt ineffectual or helpless but found that they were bravely working through a disaster situation they may be challenging some long-held self-perceptions. The second precursor is stressor-induced distress. In other words, an external event must occur which is stressful enough to place someone in a disturbed and emotionally elevated state of mind. The third precursor to posttraumatic growth is cognitive processing – which is simply the act of consciously or subconsciously experiencing the stressful event. Considering these three antecedents to posttraumatic growth, clearly there are numerous situations which could lead to some degree of growth.

Posttraumatic growth is an organismic event, which means it proceeds holistically and towards improvement within the organism across three domains (Joseph, 2012; Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). Firstly, relationships are enhanced in some way – such that

people come to value their friends and family more or feel more compassion towards others. People express more altruistic thoughts and behaviours and they begin to appreciate the relationships in their lives more intensely. Secondly, people develop a more optimistic and positive self-perception, which could include increased self-acceptance or wisdom. For example, feelings of being more resilient or strong are common, or even a new acceptance of personal flaws and limitations develop. Thirdly, personal philosophies on life typically become more clear and purposeful. Generally speaking, people tend to adopt more existential personal philosophies. They value each day more and shift their energy towards more meaningful things due to an increased perception that life is finite.

Research on posttraumatic growth is limited but quickly advancing. It has been found in war veterans (Moran, Schmidt, & Burker, 2013), cancer survivors (Koutrouli, Anagnostopoulos, & Potamianos, 2012), and even people who have experienced strong threatening perceptions such as news reports of terrorism (Stasko & Ickovics, 2007), among many other examples. Given the three precursors to posttraumatic growth (Stanton & Low, 2004), it is no surprise that posttraumatic growth can follow from natural disasters. Strong research exists supporting the causal link between natural disasters and posttraumatic stress (Neria et al., 2008; North & Pfefferbaum, 2013), and posttraumatic stress is strongly correlated with posttraumatic growth (Koutrouli et al., 2012; Lowe, Manove, & Rhodes, 2013). Currently, the relationship between posttraumatic growth and posttraumatic stress disorder appear to be curvilinear (Joseph et al., 2012; Park, Aldwin, Fenster, & Snyder, 2008), which suggests that the severity of a natural disaster plays a role in the degree of posttraumatic growth for the victims. This

research indicates that too much or too little posttraumatic stress results in smaller amounts of posttraumatic growth. Furthermore, the severity and unique consequences of the natural disaster seems to mediate the degree of posttraumatic stress and posttraumatic growth that follows (Johannesson et al., 2009; Joseph & Linley, 2005). Personal characteristics also have a role in posttraumatic growth. Predictor variables appear to be openness to experience, optimism, self-esteem, acceptance, positive reframing, social support, turning to religion, and problem solving (Linley & Joseph, 2004). According to Corey (2009), many of those variables are characteristics that healthy and skilled therapists possess.

Generally, post-traumatic growth is perceived as a positive change in people alongside the negative consequences of a disaster. These events often have a lasting impact on all people involved, many of whom choose to seek counselling to help sort through the changes in their lives. However, since natural disasters impact entire communities of people, counsellors are commonly victims of the same disaster their clients are seeking help with and face the same challenges. The term "shared trauma" has been used to describe this type of scenario.

Shared Trauma

Counsellors are often considered second responders after emergency teams have concluded their work, and they treat clients while simultaneously working through their own trauma and problems (Faust, Black, Abrahams, Warner, & Bellando, 2008). Shared trauma has been defined as a situation where both client and counsellor have been victims to the same traumatic event (Saakvitne, 2002). Shared trauma is distinct from the related concept of vicarious trauma in that it refers to a single unique traumatic event shared

between client and counsellor (e.g., the World Trade Centre attacks on September 11, 2001) as opposed to a counsellor becoming traumatized by hearing about traumatic experiences from the client. Shared trauma is also distinct from shared experience since shared experience conventionally refers to situations where the therapist has experience with an activity the client discusses (e.g., alcohol addiction) but generally not the specific event (e.g., using alcohol together on a specific date in the past).

A large number of publications on shared trauma emerged from the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina in 2005 and the terrorist attacks in New York in 2001. In these scenarios, counsellors have reported extremely challenging obstacles to overcome such as being emotionally unavailable for clients yet needing to earn an income, losing a secure and confidential office for sessions, or profound shifts in the relationship's balance due to circumstances challenging the traditional treatment boundaries.

Describing the work she did with trauma counselling after the September 11th, 2001 terrorist attacks in New York City, Saakvitne (2002) recalls, "... I was aware of my greater emotionality. I was stunned at how frequently I became teary in response to my patient's material" (pp. 444-445). Depending on the circumstances, there may be times where therapists simply cannot hide from their clients the fact that they are in distress. Saakvitne goes on to say that therapists often strive to conceal their distress, but the task becomes so extremely difficult in disaster situations because they are continually being forced to remain conscious of their own vulnerability.

A report by Boulanger (2013) provides personal accounts from four practicing psychotherapists in New Orleans after Hurricane Katrina. In this article, the therapists describe operating in a mental state akin to being on auto-pilot – that they had no

personal time to reflect and reprocess their experiences and instead had to bear the heavy burden of their own problems while channeling their energy towards helping their clients cope with the trauma. Countertransference becomes an especially relevant problem, as therapists must have a very strong ability to segregate their lives in order to provide ethical service when under the stress of shared trauma. Boulanger (2013) warns that therapists must be cautious not to shift therapy away from exploring the client's pain and towards avoiding the counsellor's painful countertransference issues. The unfortunate reality is that in post-disaster scenarios when resources are decreased and the need for help is increased, many helpers must face the ethical dilemma of choosing to work or not – and some find that continuing to provide service is in their client's best interest. When therapists continue to work despite having to make professional compromises, the balance of the therapeutic relationship tends to change.

Although both client and counsellor maintain their roles in the relationship, they now have a shared identity as primary victims of the same disaster (Bell & Robinson, 2013). When the disaster struck, the relationship dynamic between both parties was equalized. One of the outcomes of this is blurring of professional boundaries with clients (Baum, 2010; Phelps et al., 2009). Boundary shifts can be physical (e.g., hosting therapy sessions at a private home or unsecured location due to office damage) or relationship boundaries (e.g., discussing and sharing personal disaster-recovery strategies or contacts). For example, a client may learn that their therapist had the same sort of property damage but a more cooperative insurance broker. The client in this situation may request a referral to that insurance broker. In the aftermath of a natural disaster, this type of information sharing may be prudent but it does come with some risk – such as conflicts

of interest, the blurring of boundaries in the real relationship, or even fostering dependence in extreme cases.

Baum (2010) suggests that two different relationship boundaries become blurred for psychotherapists in shared trauma situations. First, the therapist's internal separation between personal and professional selves appears to weaken. Several therapists report that their thoughts and feelings became increasingly intrusive and intense during counselling sessions (Baum, 2010; Saakvitne, 2002). The effect can be so draining that professional performance is impacted and the ability to be empathetic in certain situations is compromised as a result of the therapist's preoccupation with inner dialogue. The second compromised relationship boundary is the therapeutic dyad. Primarily, the asymmetrical nature of the relationship (which allows the clients to receive help without perceiving the need to reciprocate) is altered. This shift may occur from the apparent distress and increased defensiveness of the therapist (Tosone, 2006), or from the client's growing empathy for the therapist's personal difficulties.

However, there are some positive outcomes to shared trauma, such as the potential to increase therapeutic rapport by quickly establishing the presence of a deep understanding between client and counsellor (Tosone et al., 2003). In recalling a therapy session with a client who was a victim of the World Trade Center attacks in New York, Tosone, Nuttman-Shwartz, and Stephens (2012) describe how shared trauma experiences can be leveraged for the benefit of the client. In this case, a client appeared isolated with his thoughts and feelings about recovering the body of a colleague from the ruins. The counsellor had experienced a similar situation rife with parallel emotions, and so he felt a deeper and more intimate connection with the client's story – and believed that the client

benefited from this. The authors suggested that the therapist's increased sense of intimacy helped him integrate the shared trauma scenario into therapy and increased the level of therapeutic rapport in the relationship. While some variables of shared trauma scenarios are obstacles in the way of client healing, there are some benefits to the therapeutic relationship – and therefore benefits also to client success.

The therapeutic relationship and shared trauma. When facilitating client change, the therapeutic relationship existing between the helper and client is generally regarded as the best predictor of psychotherapy outcome (Horvath & Symonds, 1991). A therapeutic relationship is an expansion of a simple relationship, defined by Gelso and Carter (1985) as, "the feelings and attitudes that counseling [sic] participants have toward one another and the manner in which these are expressed" (p. 159). The concept of a therapeutic relationship has been divided into three distinct aspects: (a) the real relationship, (b) transference and countertransference, and (c) the working alliance (Gelso & Carter, 1994).

The real relationship generally refers to the dimension of the total relationship that is independent of transference. In other words, it is the relational dynamic that is created spontaneously and is not distorted from the various processes of therapy. The real relationship has two defining features: genuineness and realistic perceptions (Gelso & Carter, 1994). The former refers to the extent that one is authentic, open, and honest about oneself in therapy. The latter refers to the extent that an individual is able to see the other in an accurate and realistic way free from distortions of transference.

Transference and countertransference together form the second component of a therapeutic relationship. The concept of transference has traveled through many

iterations, but a general definition offered by Gelso and Carter (1994) describes it as a client perceiving the therapist to have the same attitudes, beliefs, behaviours, and perceptions of significant others the client had had conflict with in the past. Therefore, transference describes the distortions a client experiences about their therapist that makes them perceive their therapist as though they were someone familiar. Countertransference is essentially the same phenomena but defined from the therapist's side of the relationship.

The working alliance is regarded as the most fundamental element of the therapeutic relationship necessary for counselling to be effective (Bordin, 1979). This element can be described as the cooperation of the client's reasonable-self with the therapist's analyzing-self. The strength of alignment is correlated with the degree to which the therapist and client agree on goals and work towards attaining them (Gelso & Carter, 1994).

When client and counsellor experience the same traumatic event, all three of these components are affected. First, the real relationship is inevitably altered due to the shared identity as primary victims. Clients will perceive the counsellors as being vulnerable, and genuine treatment in either direction becomes threatened as the client may feel empathic or even protective of the counsellor; and the counsellor must navigate between personal and professional feelings. Issues of transference and countertransference come to the forefront of the therapeutic relationship in shared trauma contexts. Existing client transference issues may be exacerbated while counsellors may struggle with countertransference if confronted with uncomfortably similar client problems. For example, a client describes a story about an authority figure forcing them to abandon a

pet during an evacuation, which also happened to the therapist. The client experiences transference to the therapist, who is also an authority figure, which is exacerbated when the therapist's countertransference causes them to self-disclose. Finally, the working alliance may be compromised out of necessity from physical restrictions (such as a destroyed office or community evacuation) or involuntarily reduced service due to strained resources.

In a shared trauma situation, elements of the therapeutic relationship may become more pronounced depending on the context. Boulanger (2013) describes how the therapeutic relationship can either be enhanced or hindered by shared trauma. If both client and counsellor have a new shared identity as survivors, they also share a deeply understood appreciation for the resilience each has demonstrated. On one hand, rapport and mutual appreciation can be strengthened, but alternatively boundaries may be violated if this new shared identity leads the therapist to be overly friendly – and this may even cause clients to lose confidence in their counsellors. For example, a shift in the therapeutic relationship due to shared trauma could lead to therapists analyzing their clientsless and spending more time relating to them, which is not necessarily therapeutic. Some researchers have positioned therapist self-disclosure as significant variable among these outcomes (Tosone et al., 2003), such that the disclosure of personal information is unavoidable in shared trauma scenarios and it is a strong influence on the therapeutic relationship.

As soon as Hurricane Katrina passed, clients wanted to know the experiences of their therapists and how they fared (Boulanger, 2013). Some therapists reported concerns over disclosing personal information to their clients; however, in many instances the

personal distress of the therapists simply could not be concealed, which conveys some personal information automatically. While shared trauma experiences risk increased countertransference and reduced relationship asymmetry, some researchers have proposed that sharing some stories of personal experiences with the client is not only unavoidable, but can also carry benefits such as increased empathy and insight for either party.

Therapist Self-disclosure

Hill (1992) defines therapist self-disclosure as any statement in which the counsellor shares something personal. Self-disclosure has a turbulent history among psychologists, beginning with Freud. Freud's theory of psychoanalysis completely eliminated self-disclosure so that the psychologist could remain a neutral and blank canvas for the client to project upon (Corey, 2009). The tradition of an anonymous therapist persisted until the 1950s, when Carl Rogers's theory of person-centered therapy began to emerge. Person-centered counsellors were the first to fully embrace the technique of self-disclosure (Farber, 2006). The technique was an effective method for quickly building rapport and establishing a relationship of trust and understanding. For instance, Carl Rogers indicated that therapists could self-disclose to reflect understanding to the client and increase congruency – the measure of therapeutic understanding and integration in Rogerian theories (Goldfried, Burckell, & Eubanks-Carter, 2003). Since then, proponents of humanist theory have continued to regard therapist self-disclosure as a tool to model positive client behaviours, if used skillfully (Hanson, 2005; Simi & Mahalik, 1997). Self-disclosure is also crucial to feminist theorists (Knox & Hill, 2003),

addictions counsellors (Martino, Ball, Nich, Frankforter, & Carroll, 2009), and sexual orientation counselling (Satterly, 2006).

Self-disclosure has been described as a high-risk but high-reward technique that novice counsellors should avoid (Young, 2008). One of the risks involved with therapist self-disclosure is that, in certain circumstances, the client can begin to feel that the counsellor is too self-concerned, which can result in the client feeling unimportant or not cared for. Clients with self-esteem problems are particularly vulnerable to feeling alienated when this technique is used inappropriately. Another significant risk is that therapist self-disclosure can undermine the therapist's authority as a transference figure (i.e., a safe individual for the client to ascribe important characteristics from past relationships on to) and thereby reduce the effectiveness of modeling. Finally, too much therapist self-disclosure can be drive clients away out of boredom or the stress of not having enough time to explore their problems in session.

Among the benefits of using this technique, therapist self-disclosure can increase trust in the relationship by establishing a mutual understanding and/or the sharing of important personal information (Young, 2008). Therapist self-disclosure can also deepen the client's self-disclosure and encourage the expression of feelings through modeling. Another particularly important outcome is the ability for self-disclosures to be "self-involving." These are statements that related to thoughts the therapist has about the client and they can be especially therapeutic in some situations. The different categories of self-disclosure are discussed in greater detail in the next section.

Despite being one of the most effective techniques in certain situations, selfdisclosure is among the least commonly used in session (Hill & Knox, 2001). This is typically due to therapist training or theoretical orientations. When some therapists do choose to disclose, they do so very sparingly and often experience marked internal struggles about the appropriateness of the intervention. Hill and Knox (2001) suggest that therapists need to be mindful of the content of the revelation to strategically minimize risk. They assert that disclosures must avoid highly intimate information, sexual issues, religious beliefs, or political views. The approaches to self-disclosure are outlined below.

Types of self-disclosure. Knox and Hill (2003) assert that there are at least seven subtypes of therapist disclosure: disclosures of (a) facts, (b) feelings, (c) insight, (d) strategy, (e) reassurance or support, (f) challenge, and (g) immediacy (p. 530). Disclosures of facts and feelings are simply communications about the therapist's personal information or thoughts and emotions (e.g., "As I listened to your story I felt very hopeful"). Disclosures of insight involve the description of a time when the therapist had a realization or personal discovery (e.g., "I was also unsure about a similar situation until I realized that I had the power to decide for myself"). Disclosures of strategy are the description of actions the therapist personally took to overcome a problem, and the client can often misinterpret this type of disclosure as advice (e.g., "I was also confused about what to major in so I decided I would go talk to my parents"). Disclosures of reassurance are similar to disclosing feeling, except that they communicate empathy or shared experience – which can undermine the therapeutic relationship in some circumstances (e.g., A therapist saying "I was just as scared as you were once, when the airplane shook like that!" when the client meant to convey excitement rather than fear). Disclosures of challenge are recounts of when the therapist dealt with a similar issue the client was having, but more successfully (e.g., "I also lost my brother in a car accident, but managed to overcome my grief by reprocessing it."). Finally, disclosures of immediacy involve communicating to the client during the session to describe thoughts or feelings the therapist has in that moment (e.g., "As you describe your relationship with your father I am feeling a lot of sympathy for you because my relationship with my father is similar."). These different types of disclosures are used at different points in therapy, and have very different outcomes. Knox and Hill (2003) suggest that disclosures of immediacy are perhaps the most therapeutically effective approach, since they highlight the interactional processes occurring between the client and the counsellor – processes which may be occurring with others in the client's life and contributing to their distress.

Usage of self-disclosure in therapy. Scholars often warn about the risks of self-disclosure – especially how grievous misuse can alter the relationship and cross ethical boundaries (Craig, 1991; Lazarus & Zur, 2002). For example, if a therapist was to disclose some personal hardships to the client, and the client becomes genuinely sympathetic, a role reversal may occur. Such an event violates relational, professional, and ethical boundaries. From a literature perspective, most debate over the usage of self-disclosure is in the realm of ethics. For example, self-disclosure may cross ethical boundaries by shifting the focus of the session away from the client, facilitating a dynamic favourable for friendship, arousing empathy or sympathy within the client directed to the therapist, or creating an inverse relationship dynamic (Zur, 2004). However, some researchers have suggested that it is impossible to completely avoid self-disclosure in therapy (Peterson, 2002). Peterson suggests that the therapist's clothes, ethnicity, style, office decorations, manner of greeting, and many other characteristics are all forms of self-disclosure and cannot be avoided. Therefore, the question moves away

from whether some degree of self-disclosure is ethical, and towards exploring the circumstances of when it is appropriate (Audet, 2011). In situations where the therapist is ill or experiencing distress, the issue of informed consent is a stake. If some event has occurred which influences the performance of the therapist in a meaningful way, Peterson (2002) suggests that self-disclosure becomes the ethical action to take. In fact, research tentatively supports that in shared trauma scenarios, self-disclosure frequency increases (Baum, 2010; Lijtmaer, 2010; Tosone et al., 2012). Therefore, some scholars might argue that in situations of shared trauma, self-disclosure is the only ethical procedure to follow.

No specific criteria exist for when self-disclosure is best suited, however the empirical and theoretical literature clearly reveals that some clients respond better than others, and that self-disclosure should only be used with clients whom the therapists have strong existing relationships (Bishop & Lane, 2001). Strength in the therapeutic relationship is a necessary safeguard against discomfort or misunderstanding regarding the content of the therapist's disclosure. Self-disclosure should not be used with clients who have very defensive beliefs about personal boundaries or who respond negatively to compliments (Geller, 2003). Such clients tend to feel uncomfortable when they learn personal information from their therapist whom they view as an authority figure. Geller (2003) goes on to explain that in his experience, self-disclosure is best reserved for times when clients become perniciously resistant. At times like that, some self-disclosure will dramatically shift the tone of the session and sometimes compels the client to cooperate.

The type of information contained in self-disclosures has been the major focus of researchers in the field. In a large review of qualitative research, Henretty and Levitt

(2010) determined that the following types of information are empirically supported as being beneficial to disclose: facts, feelings, insights, reassurances, and statements of immediacy. However, the last two types can be dangerous at times because they may encourage clients to censor themselves or foster competition in the relationship. For example, if a therapist is self-disclosing some past hardships in an attempt to reassure the client, the client may begin to sympathize with the therapist. Feelings of care and protectiveness may emerge in response to hearing about times when their therapist was in distress. This increased sympathy may motivate the client to self-censor in an attempt to not cause further perceived discomfort in the therapist. Statements of immediacy may cause a client to feel as though their therapist is actively comparing their personal experience with that of the client, making the client potentially feel insecure, undermined, not respected, or unheard, and fostering a sense of competition.

Outcomes of therapist self-disclosure. The range of reasons why therapists choose to self-disclose is vast (Henretty & Levitt, 2010), but among them is the purpose of validating reality. When intrusive events happen, therapists have reported that it is useful to self-disclose about the nature of those events to help the clients deal with real-life factors (Simon, 1988). Failing to address the reality of the situation may leave clients anxious about being able to access future service (e.g., Can the therapist cope with the intrusive events well enough to provide help to others?). The disclosure of personal yet obvious difficulties the therapist may be experiencing is reassuring to the client and leads to an overall stronger alliance (Hill & Knox, 2001). Perhaps the strongest effect of self-disclosure can be to normalize the experience of the client (Audet & Everall, 2003). Both validating reality and normalization are effective and widely used processes in

counselling victims of natural disasters (Bedi et al., 2005; Kar, 2009; Madrid & Grant, 2008).

Disclosure of common experiences between the client and counsellor validate the client and foster a sense of understanding and respect (Barnett, 2011). Furthermore, mild dissimilarities in the respective experiences between client and counsellor can lead to the development of new perspectives for clients about their situation. A study by Simone, McCarthy, and Skay (1998) found that when therapists self-disclose in order to validate or normalize a client's experience, the clients found it helpful only when the information was both similar and relevant. In their study, relevance was gauged by how strategically applicable the disclosed information was for the client.

Self-disclosure has been suggested to play a role in post-traumatic growth by enabling and facilitating relationships (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). The action of disclosing personal stories of endurance or survival forces people to confront questions of meaning – which include subjects like relationships, compassion, and interpersonal values (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). Relationships are key components of disaster recovery and, however a therapist chooses to promote them, reinforcement and reliance upon them can lead to healing.

Relationships and Recovery

Regarding the potential for post-traumatic growth, relationships are important factors in the wake of a flood disaster. Kaniasty and Norris (2008) performed a longitudinal study on the prognosis of PTSD in flood victims related to their perceived-social support. The researchers found that perceived social support was associated with reduced rates of PTSD within one year of the disaster and that less social support was

associated with increased PTSD after one year. To determine if the degree of social support can predict PTSD symptoms following a disaster, Cherry et al. (2015) used self-report measures with 219 participants to measure these variables. The results showed a protective effect for all mental health outcomes (i.e., PTSD, depression, and generalized anxiety disorder).

Extending beyond the individual, Breckenridge and James (2012) have suggested that therapeutic services at the family or community level are needed to effectively recover from any disaster. They argue that through community initiatives, people are given the enhanced opportunity to develop meaningful relationships and establish new connections. They suggest that the role of the therapist is to facilitate discussion, clarify facts, and explore circumstances in an effort to integrate people. Through this approach, clients process any conflicted feelings associated with traumatic events in a healthy manner. Ultimately, a communal "story" can be developed upon themes of survival if therapists broaden their scope of practice to encompass communities, which can be healing.

Narrative Exposure Therapy

Closely related to the construction of a story is narrative exposure therapy which has the practical characteristic of being-short term and able to address complex trauma (Jongedikj, 2014). Recently, narrative exposure therapy has been used effectively to treat survivors of a natural disaster (Zang, Hunt, & Cox, 2014). Researchers in China effectively treated thirty earthquake survivors diagnosed with PTSD with typical and revised forms of narrative exposure therapy. Both groups showed a significant reduction in PTSD and all associated symptoms, along with an increase in post-traumatic growth,

active coping behaviours, and perceived social support. The revised version of the therapy called for clients to focus on a single traumatic event (e.g., the disaster), and canceled the testimony sign-off portion (i.e., signing the narrative with a witness to officiate the sense of closure) to increase the counsellor's capacity to see clients. No significant difference was found between approaches and, given the broad applicability and ease of use, the researchers suggested that the revised narrative exposure therapy protocol could be an effective treatment for natural disaster survivors.

Summary

Natural disasters are a global threat, and floods rates are increasing along with flood severity. Floods affect both coastal and in-land residents, and are an extreme hazard for regions near mountain ranges such as southern Alberta. The major Calgary area (including municipalities within 50 km) is home to over one million people (Statistics Canada, 2012) but has a long history of catastrophic floods. When disaster strikes, whole communities are affected, including any practicing therapists in the area. As second responders, these therapists now face complex situations where professional boundaries are blurred in the aftermath of crisis. Resources are stretched thin as people's needs increase. The shared trauma between therapists and clients creates many new risks and precarious dynamics. Often the distress of the helper cannot be concealed from clients, so the disclosure of personal information occurs automatically – and often times the impact can be dramatic. The information can help normalize the situation for the client or potentially lead to posttraumatic growth, but on the other hand, self-disclosure has been criticized by some as being exploitative. What is clear is that self-disclosure has some role to play in counselling the survivors of a flood and can be healing if used

appropriately. Disclosures can enhance the perceived relationship between the client and counsellor and provide some benefit in terms of making the client feel supported and understood. They can also promote the importance of relationships outside the counselling office. Research has shown that perceived social support is negatively correlated with PTSD symptoms, depression, and anxiety. A positive correlation also exists between it and post-traumatic growth. Finally, the use of narrative therapy has recently been suggested as an effective and rapid means of helping natural disaster victims.

In the next chapter, details of the research design are presented along with a discussion of the outlining questions used to guide this literature review. The section contains a description on how the manual was developed, including the broad organization of its content. The chapter concludes with a brief presentation of ethical considerations and a summary.

Chapter Three: Methods

This section describes the process used to complete the literature review, the process for creating the manual, ethical considerations, and the trustworthiness of the design. A description of the search terms and databases used to find relevant literature is also included. The following methods were employed to answer the research question: What do counsellors need to know to successfully and ethically navigate shared trauma following a flood disaster?

Search Terms

Guided by the research question, specific databases were chosen due to their relevance to psychology, economics, sociology, and geography. The following databases provided the literature for the search terms: Academic Search Complete, PsycInfo, ScienceDirect, EconLit, GEOBASE, SocINDEX, Wiley Online Library, SAGE Journals Online, Canadian Business and Current Affairs Complete, and Web of Science.

The intention of the literature review was to provide peer-reviewed resources to draw practical conclusions for improving flood disaster recovery efforts. Therefore, the following questions guided the literature search:

- What are the psychosocial effects of a flood disaster?
- What are the effects of shared trauma?
- What are the effects of self-disclosure?
- What special considerations are there for counselling after a natural disaster?
 Specific search terms included various combinations and variations on the following words: counsellors, floods, natural disaster, shared trauma, post traumatic growth, self-disclosure, quality of life, secondary responders, disaster

recovery, and interventions. Literature searches extended into searching the references of peer-reviewed articles I found, if relevant. Additional searches were made by exploring articles citing articles I found, via the Academic Search Complete, PsychInfo, and Web of Science databases. Furthermore, certain academic books and textbooks were reviewed when exploring various counselling or psychological information. Finally, government and news media websites were included in the search when information about various disasters was required.

To explore the question about the psychosocial effects of a flood disaster, I primarily searched psychology and sociology based databases, for articles on the impact of flooding or, more broadly, of large-scale catastrophes and disasters. The majority of research appeared to be associated with post-traumatic stress disorder, but there are significant contributions in the area of relationships, mood, socioeconomic factors, and memory.

In order to understand the effects of shared trauma, I had to differentiate from shared experience when searching. The majority of publications appeared to be memoires or first-hand accounts of disaster recovery, with occasional reflective pieces. The events of Hurricane Katrina and the terrorist attacks on the World Trade Center provided the context for much of the research on shared trauma.

Self-disclosure emerged as a prominent theme among the reports of shared trauma from psychologists, and in order to understand its role in disaster recovery, I studied review articles and key publications on the subject. Knox and Hill (2003) provided the first major overview of the technique, and appear to be among the most central researchers on the subject.

Finally, in searching for special considerations for counselling after a natural disaster, I searched among all psychology and sociology related databases for reports or studies on disaster outcomes. The search included reports from Red Cross workers and from therapists volunteering with Hurricane Katrina relief.

Developing the Manual

The subject matter of the manual is intended to help people after a flood disaster, in cases when the helper is also a victim. The situation is complicated and time is a valuable resource. Therefore, for this manual to be most effective it needs to be concise, direct, and easily understood. Primarily, the manual is a resource to be shared immediately after a flood disaster has struck a community, however it can also be used as a general overview of best practices during disaster preparation.

In the interest of the above, the manual is divided into two major sections. First, there is a section providing descriptions, definitions, and distinctions between the various factors of effective flood disaster recovery. This includes much of the foundational information clinicians need to understand to proceed with treatment, but does not give supporting details or prolonged descriptions. The second section provides concise and directive guidance for practitioners, should they find themselves in a shared trauma situation. Recommendations are made from empirically proven research data and synthesized into safe and effective directives. Additionally, the manual includes an introduction section, a conclusion, and a reference section.

The ultimate purpose of the literature review is to record all practical conclusions derived from the analysis in a separate document. This list is organized to form a distinction between explicit and implicit practical suggestions from the various authors.

This document represents the raw form of the final manual, which will ultimately be reorganizing and framed to create a brief yet informative expository text.

Ethical Considerations

I alone will collect all the data in this study, review it, and synthesize it into the final product. No participants are required or human subjects. All conclusions will be derived from peer-reviewed scientific articles with clear indications where I have made interpretations. The manual will not be empirically validated; therefore a disclaimer of its usefulness will preface the content. Complete credit and references will be given for the research base used in the creation of the manual.

Summary

In this chapter, the methods for reviewing the literature were presented. Details of specific databases and search terms were provided to give readers an idea of the breadth and depth of this research. The literature for this project was based on concepts of flood disaster outcomes, shared trauma scenarios, the use of self-disclosure, and the unique considerations of counselling people after a flood disaster. A manual was created to provide responders with a practical, concise, and easily understood resource to maximize the outcomes for their clients.

Chapter Four: Synopsis

This chapter contains a detailed description of the flood-disaster response manual.

Additionally, the expected impact of the manual, including its strengths and its

limitations, will be discussed. Following that, a brief section of closing reflections about the process and a summary is included.

Overview of Manual

The purpose of the manual is to relieve some of the pressure from mental health therapists after a flood disaster. Rather than spending already strained energy and resources on decision making and research, clinicians referencing this manual can focus their efforts on their clients. As such, it needs to be concise, clear, and powerful enough to give readers valuable information. Therefore, the manual is not recommended for a lay audience – it requires education, skill, and understanding in common psychotherapy theories, interventions, and processes.

The first section of the manual gives readers some context for flood disasters with the intention that this information can be passed on to survivors to help clarify the devastation and normalize the experience. Next, a presentation of the four most common disorders that arise for natural disaster victims includes symptomology and diagnostic criteria from the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5* (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). This information is intended to be a reference for clinicians, not a diagnostic tool.

Following the common clinical disorders is an outline of post-traumatic growth – a powerful phenomenon for survivors of a flood that therapists could integrate into their process with clients. Shared trauma is defined and explained next. A major caution about

boundary shifts is presented so that therapists can be aware of the primary risk factors of a shared trauma situation, which is followed by a separate piece on boundaries. The issues regarding shifts in the therapeutic relationship are described in relation to how they may lead to problematic relationship boundaries. Finally, the section concludes with a description of the most likely ethical dilemmas therapists may face in shared trauma scenarios, as well as some possible consequences of them. The ethical decision making model from *The Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists* (Canadian Psychological Association, 2000) is presented as a convenient option for therapists.

The second section of the manual presents strategies to navigate the complexities of psychotherapeutic flood recovery in a shared trauma situation. The section opens with some humour to those familiar with the works of Douglas Adams, a popular British novelist. The intention of humour is to help ground the reader and draw their attention towards their own level of anxiety. Cognitive-behaviour therapy is indicated for each of the most common psychological disorders following a flood disaster. This is followed by a detailed description of self-disclosure, why it occurs, and the various categories of disclosures. Each category is followed with a recommendation for or against its usage with rationale. The purpose of this is to give readers a bearing on what disclosures they are making so they can intervene on the process if needed.

A brief description of the modified narrative exposure therapy protocol is presented along with guidelines. This revised protocol has not been extensively tested, but has shown promise and has the desirable characteristic of being rapidly deployable and less demanding than typical narrative exposure therapy for the therapist. A reminder of proper sleep hygiene standards follows and they are intended to be integrated with

CBT techniques. Finally, a description of the three dimensions of post-traumatic growth is included so that therapists can emphasize these areas in counselling when appropriate.

Expected Outcomes and Strengths

The manual is expected to be a useful reference and guide for any mental health clinical working with survivors of a flood disaster – doubly so for those in a shared trauma situation. Although simple in construction and not exhaustive of possibilities, the redirection of focus that this manual puts on high-impact factors in post-disaster scenarios is expected to make an overall positive impact for communities that use it. Each client and counsellor is unique so no single manual, no matter how detailed, could provide perfect guidance for everybody. The skill of the counsellor and quality of the therapeutic relationship are, as always, paramount. Therefore, though the broad focus on high-impact factors without belabouring details that cannot be universal, this manual is expected to have wide applicability.

Limitations

This manual is limited in that it has not been empirically evaluated. The information contained has been gathered from peer-reviewed research; however, it has never before been organized and/or interpreted into a practical application. This manual does not include every intervention, theory, or concept effective for, or related to, the topics addressed.

Reflections

One of the theories why medical students are pushed to work extremely hard on very little sleep is to see who makes mistakes under stress and strain. It is not terribly difficult for a therapist to remember that PTSD is the most common clinical disorder

following a natural disaster when they are operating in normal circumstances. It is another situation entirely when they have lost their home, their insurance company is irksome, and their client is threatening suicide. In times like that, even the best therapists might make mistakes so basic yet pertinent and organized information can have tremendous value. I believe in the power of "minimal effective doses" when it comes to making changes. This manual is my attempt at giving that to therapists for the time where their cognitive decision making resources are at a premium.

My outstanding concern is ultimately about the population this manual is best suited for. My sense is that this manual is most applicable for the weeks following a disaster, where demand for therapists is high and a relatively rapid response is needed. The applicability for counsellors seeing clients many months to years after the event seems less relevant to me. However, in situations like those, personal resources are not as strained and clinicians can better afford to rely on the wealth of literature and training available, which goes much deeper than the "minimal effective dose" that this manual attempts to provide.

Summary

This manual represents a concise attempt to relieve some of the decision-making burden from mental health therapists in the aftermath of a flood disaster. It provides readers with an overview of the most common disorders that arise, their associated symptoms, and the first line treatment for them. It also attempts to describe some of the other powerful phenomenon at play for survivors of a disaster as well as avenues therapists can take to emphasize or empower these aspects. Among the precarious factors of a shared trauma situation, the shifts in therapeutic boundaries are often of a nature

clinicians have not encountered and can be problematic. The manual attempts to shed light on this occurrence. Additionally, self-disclosure is presented concisely as a way to either harm or heal the client. The result of creating this manual is expected to be generally positive, as it provides a scaffold for therapists to guide their practice during difficult times. Ultimately, as flood disasters affect more and more people around the world, counsellors are inevitable victims themselves and this manual might serve as a mental floatation device for the rough waters of shared trauma.

References

- Alderman, K., Turner, L. R., & Tong, S. (2012). Floods and human health: A systematic review. *Environment International*, 47, 37–47. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2012.06.003
- Alliance Development Works. (2012). World Risk Report 2012. Retrieved from http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/WRR_2012_en_online150.p
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). Washington, D.C: Author.
- Andersen, T. K., & Shepherd, J. M. (2013). Floods in a changing climate. *Geography Compass*, 7, 95–115. doi:10.1111/gec3.12025
- Ashley, S. T., & Ashley, W. S. (2008). Flood fatalities in the United States. *Journal of Applied Meteorology & Climatology*, 47, 805-818.

 doi:10.1175/2007JAMC1611.1
- Audet, C. T. (2011). Client perspectives of therapist self-disclosure: Violating boundaries or removing barriers? *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 24, 85–100. doi:10.1080/09515070.2011.589602
- Audet, C. T., & Everall, R. D. (2003). Counsellor self-disclosure: Client-informed implications for practice. *Counselling & Psychotherapy Research*, 3, 223–231. doi:10.1080/14733140312331384392
- Barnett, J. E. (2011). Psychotherapist self-disclosure: Ethical and clinical considerations. *Psychotherapy*, 48, 315–321. doi:10.1037/a0026056
- Baum, N. (2010). Shared traumatic reality in communal disasters: Toward a conceptualization. *Psychotherapy*, 47, 249–259. doi:10.1037/a0019784

- Bedi, R. P., Davis, M. D., & Williams, M. (2005). Critical incidents in the formation of the therapeutic alliance from the client's perspective. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training*, 42, 311–323. doi:10.1037/0033-3204.42.3.311
- Bell, C. H., & Robinson, E. H. (2013). Shared trauma in counseling: Information and implications for counselors. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, *3*, 310-323. doi:10.17744/mehc.35.4.7v33258020948502
- Bishop, J., & Lane, R. (2001). Self-disclosure and the therapeutic frame: Concerns for novice practitioners. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, *31*, 245–256. doi:10.1023/A:1015325727981
- Bordin, E. S. (1979). The generalizability of the psychoanalytic concept of the working alliance. *Psychotherapy*, *16*, 252–260. doi:10.1037/h0085885
- Boulanger, G. (2013). Fearful symmetry: Shared trauma in New Orleans after Hurricane Katrina. *Psychoanalytic Dialogues*, 23, 31–44. doi:10.1080/10481885.2013.752700
- Breckenridge, J., & James, K. (2012). Therapeutic responses to communities affected by disasters: The contribution of family therapy. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, *33*, 242-256. doi:10.1017/aft.2012.29
- Canadian Press. (2013, August 19). Alberta flood costs well over \$5 billion: Redford. *The Huffington Post*. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.ca/2013/08/19/alberta-flood-cost-over-5-billion_n_3781513.html
- Canadian Psychological Association. (2000). *Canadian code of ethics for psychologists* (3rd ed.). Ottawa, ON: Author.

- Capstick, K. (2013). Updated provincial flood statistics [Press release]. Retrieved from http://alberta.ca/release.cfm?xID=3504558578E5F-0AE3-E7A3-F26352B04E9C94B0
- Cherry, K. E., Sampson, L., Nezat, P. F., Cacamo, A., Marks, L. D., & Galea, S. (2015).
 Long-term psychological outcomes in older adults after disaster: Relationships to religiosity and social support. *Aging & Mental Health*, 19, 430-443.
 doi:10.1080/13607863.2014.941325
- Corey, G. (2009). *Theory and practice of counseling and psychotherapy* (8th ed.). Belmont, California: Thomson Higher Education.
- Cozby, P. C. (1973). Self-disclosure: A literature review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 79, 73–91. doi:10.1037/h0033950
- Craig, J. D. (1991). Preventing dual relationships in pastoral counseling. *Counseling and Values*, *36*, 49-55. doi:10.1002/j.2161-007X.1991.tb00778.x doi:10.1007/s10615-012-0395-0
- Farber, B. A. (2006). Self-disclosure in psychotherapy. New York, NY: Gilford Press.
- Faust, D. S., Black, F. W., Abrahams, P., Warner, M. S., & Bellando, B. J. (2008). After the storm: Katrina's impact on psychological practice in New Orleans. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 39, 1-6. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.39.1.1
- Friedman, M. J., Keane, T. M., & Resick, P. A. (2010). *Handbook of PTSD: Science and practice*. New York, NY: Gilford Press.
- Friel, S. S., Bowen, K. K., Campbell-Lendrum, D. D., Frumkin, H. H., McMichael, A. J., & Rasanathan, K. K. (2011). Climate change, noncommunicable diseases, and

- development: The relationships and common policy opportunities. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *32*, 133-147. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-071910-140612
- Galea, S., Nandi, A., & Vhahov, D. (2005). The epidemiology of post-traumatic stress disorder after disasters. *Epidemiological Reviews*, 27, 78-91. doi:10.1093/epirev/mxi003
- Geller, J. (2003). Self-disclosure in psychoanalytic-existential therapy. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59, 541–554. doi:10.1002/jclp.10158
- Gelso, C. J. & Carter, J. (1985). The relationship in counseling and psychotherapy:

 Components, consequences, and theoretical antecedents. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *13*, 155-244. doi:10.1177/0011000085132001
- Gelso, C. J., & Carter, J. (1994). Components of the psychotherapy relationship: Their interaction and unfolding during treatment. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 41, 296-306. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.41.3.296
- Gignac, T. (2013, June 24). Mandatory evacuation remains for High River. *Calgary Herald*. Retrieved from http://www2.canada.com/calgaryherald/news/story.html?id=d89ddac9-411e-4a39-9f70-5f3662090677
- Glue, L. S., & O'Neill, M. (2010). A qualitative investigation into the experience of psychologist's around self-disclosure when working with clients. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 5, 1456–1458. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.307
- Godkin, D. (2013). Violent, costly flood inundates Alberta, Canada. *ENR: Engineering News-Record*, 271, 10.

- Goldfried, M. R., Burckell, L. A., & Eubanks-Carter, C. (2003). Therapist self-disclosure in cognitive-behavioral therapy. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *59*, 555-568. doi:10.1002/jclp.10159
- Government of Canada, Office of Critical Infrastructure Protection and Emergency

 Preparedness. (2001). Managing flood hazard and risk: Report of an independent

 expert panel (Catalogue No.: D82-70/2002E-IN). Retrieved from

 http://publications.gc.ca/collections/Collection/D82-70-2002E.pdf
- Graveland, B. (2013, June 22). In flood ravaged High River, Canadian soldiers find something resembling a war zone. *National Post*. Retrieved from http://news.nationalpost.com/news/canada/in-flood-ravaged-high-river-canadian-soldiers-find-something-resembling-a-war-zone
- Green, B. L. (1998). Psychological responses to disasters: Conceptualization and identification of high-risk survivors. *Psychiatry & Clinical Neurosciences*, *52*, 67-73. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1819.1998.0520s5S67
- Groeneveld, G. (2006). Provincial Flood Mitigation Report: Consultation and

 Recommendations. Retrieved from

 http://www.aema.alberta.ca/images/News/Provincial_Flood_Mitigation_Report.p

 df
- Guha-sapir, D., Hoyois, P., & Below, R. (2012). *Annual disaster statistical review 2012: The numbers and trends*. Retrieved from http://reliefweb.int/report/world/annual-disaster-statistical-review-2012-numbers-and-trends

- Hanson, J. (2005). Should your lips be zipped? How therapist self-disclosure and non-disclosure affects clients. *Counseling and Psychotherapy Research*, *5*, 96-104. doi:10.1080/17441690500226658
- Harris, C. (2013, August). Deluge. *Claims Canada*. Retrieved from http://www.claimscanada.ca/issues/article.aspx?aid=1002551211&er=NA
- Hartmann, H., & Andresky, L. (2013). Flooding in the Indus River basin A spatiotemporal analysis of precipitation records. *Global and Planetary Change*, 107, 25–35. doi:10.1016/j.gloplacha.2013.04.002
- Hayashi, M. (2006). *History of flooding* [PowerPoint slides]. Retrieved from http://people.ucalgary.ca/~hayashi/geog515/lectures/515_0609.pdf
- Henretty, J. R., & Levitt, H. M. (2010). The role of therapist self-disclosure in psychotherapy: A qualitative review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *30*, 63–77. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2009.09.004
- Hernández, P., Engstrom, D., & Gangsei, D. (2010). Exploring the impact of trauma on therapists: Vicarious resilience and related concepts in training. *Journal of Systemic Therapies*, 29(1), 67-83. doi:10.1521/jsyt.2010.29.1.67
- Hill, C. E. (1992). Research on therapist techniques in brief individual therapy: Implications for practitioners. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 20, 689-711. doi:10.1177/0011000092204012
- Hill, C. E., & Knox, S. (2001). Self-disclosure. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 38*, 413-417. doi:10.1037/0033-3204.38.4.413

- Horvath, A. O., & Symonds, B. D. (1991). Relation between working alliance and outcome in psychotherapy: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 38, 139–149. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.38.2.139
- Hunt, J. C. R. (2002). Floods in a changing climate: A review. *Philosophical Transactions: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, *360*, 1531–1543. doi:10.1098/rsta.2002.1016
- Hunt, M., Al-Awadi, H., & Johnson, M. (2008). Psychological sequelae of pet loss following Hurricane Katrina. Anthrozoos: A Multidisciplinary Journal of The Interactions of People & Animals, 21, 109–121. doi:10.2752/175303708X305765
- Huntington, T. G. (2006). Evidence for intensification of the global water cycle: Review and synthesis. *Journal of Hydrology*, *319*, 83–95. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.07.003
- International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. (n.d.). What is a disaster? Retrieved from http://www.ifrc.org/en/what-we-do/disaster-management/about-disasters/what-is-a-disaster/
- Irish, J. L., & Resio, D. T. (2013). Method for estimating future hurricane flood probabilities and associated uncertainty. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal & Ocean Engineering*, 139, 126-134. doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)WW.1943-5460.0000157
- Johannesson, K. B., Michel, P. O., Hultman, C. M., Lindam, A., Arnberg, F., & Lundin, T. (2009). Impact of exposure to trauma on posttraumatic stress disorder symptomatology in Swedish tourist tsunami survivors. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Diseases*, 197, 316-323. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181a206f7.

- Jones, R. T., Immel, C. S., Moore, R. M., & Hadder, J. M. (2008). Hurricane Katrina: Experiences of psychologists and implications for future disaster response.

 Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 39, 100–106.

 doi:10.1037/0735-7028.39.1.100
- Jongedijk, R. A. (2014). Narrative exposure therapy: An evidence-based treatment for multiple and complex trauma. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *5*, 26522. doi:10.3402/ejpt.v5.26522
- Joseph, S. (2012). What doesn't kill us *The Psychologist*, 25, 816–820. Retrieved from https://thepsychologist.bps.org.uk/volume-25/edition-11/what-doesnt-kill-us
- Joseph, S., & Linley, P. A. (2005). Positive adjustment to threatening events: An organismic valuing theory of growth through adversity. *Review of General Psychology*, 9, 262–280. doi:10.1037/1089-2680.9.3.262
- Joseph, S., Murphy, D., & Regel, S. (2012). An affective-cognitive processing model of post-traumatic growth. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 19, 316–325. doi:10.1002/cpp.1798
- Kaniasty, K., & Norris, F.H. (2008). Longitudinal linkages between perceived social support and posttraumatic stress symptoms: Sequential roles of social causation and social selection. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 21, 274-281. doi:10.1002/jts.20334.
- Kar, N. (2009). Psychological impact of disasters on children: Review of assessment and interventions. World Journal of Pediatrics, 5, 5-11. doi:10.1007/s12519-009-0001-x

- Knox, S., & Hill, C. E. (2003). Therapist self-disclosure: Research-based suggestions for practitioners. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59, 529-539. doi:10.1002/jclp.10157
- Kollat, J. B., Kasprzyk, J. R., Thomas, W. O., Miller, A. C., & Divoky, D. (2012).
 Estimating the impacts of climate change and population growth on flood discharges in the United States. *Journal of Water Resources Planning & Management*, 138, 442-452. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)WR.1943-5452.0000233
- Kõlves, K., Kõlves, K. E., & De Leo, D. (2013). Natural disasters and suicidal behaviours: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *146*, 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2012.07.037
- Koutrouli, N., Anagnostopoulos, F., & Potamianos, G. (2012). Posttraumatic stress disorder and posttraumatic growth in breast cancer patients: A systematic review. *Women & Health*, *52*, 503-516. doi:10.1080/03630242.2012.679337
- Lane, K., Charles-Guzman, K., Wheeler, K., Abid, Z., Graber, N., & Matte, T. (2013).

 Health effects of coastal storms and flooding in urban areas: A review and vulnerability assessment. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, 2013, 1-13. doi:10.1155/2013/913064
- Lazarus, A. A., & Zur, O. (Eds.). (2002). *Dual relationships and psychotherapy*. New York, New York: Springer Publishing Company, Inc.
- Lijtmaer, R. (2010). Reflections: Can the analyst share a traumatizing experience with a traumatized patient? *The Journal of the American Academy of Psychoanalysis and Dynamic Psychiatry*, 38, 677–692. doi:10.1521/jaap.2010.38.4.685

- Linley, P.A., & Joseph, S. (2004). Positive change processes following trauma and adversity: A review of the empirical literature. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 17, 11–22. doi:10.1023/B:JOTS.0000014671.27856.7e
- Lowe, S. R., Manove, E. E., & Rhodes, J. E. (2013). Posttraumatic stress and posttraumatic growth among low-income mothers who survived Hurricane Katrina. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 81, 877-889. doi:10.I037/a0033252
- Madrid, P. A., & Grant, R. (2008). Meeting mental health needs following a natural disaster: Lessons from Hurricane Katrina. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 39, 86–92. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.39.1.86
- Martino, S., Ball, S. A., Nich, C., Frankforter, T. L., & Carroll, K. M. (2009). Informal discussions in substance abuse treatment sessions. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *36*, 366–75. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2008.08.003
- Mason, V., Andrews, H., & Upton, D. (2010). The psychological impact of exposure to floods. *Psychology, Health, & Medicine, 15*, 61-73. doi:10.1080/13548500903483478
- Mitchell, M. J., Witman, M., & Taffaro, C. (2008). Reestablishing mental health services in St. Bernard Parish, Louisiana, following Hurricane Katrina. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *39*, 66–76. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.39.1.66
- Moran, S., Schmidt, J., & Burker, E. J. (2013). Posttraumatic growth and posttraumatic stress disorder in veterans. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 79, 34-43.

- Neria, Y., Nandi, A., & Galea, S. (2008). Post-traumatic stress disorder following disasters: A systematic review. *Psychological Medicine*, 38, 467–80. doi:10.1017/S0033291707001353
- Norris, F. H., Friedman, M. J., & Watson, P. J. (2002). 60,000 disaster victims speak,

 Part II: Summary and implications of the disaster mental health research.

 Psychiatry, 63, 240–260. doi:10.1521/psyc.65.3.240.20169
- North, C. S., & Pfefferbaum, B. (2013). Mental health response to community disasters:

 A systematic review. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*,

 310, 507–18. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.107799
- Nyman, S. J., & Daugherty, T. K. (2001). Congruence of counselor self-disclosure and perceived effectiveness. *The Journal of Psychology*, *135*, 269–76. doi:10.1080/00223980109603697
- Park, C. L., Aldwin, C. M., Fenster, J. R., & Snyder, L. B. (2008). Pathways to posttraumatic growth versus posttraumatic stress: Coping and emotional reactions following the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 78, 300-312. doi:10.1037/a0014054
- Peterson, Z.D. (2002). More than a mirror: The ethics of therapist self-disclosure.

 *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 39, 21–31.

 doi:10.1037/0033-3204.39.1.21
- Phelps, A., Lloyd, D., Creamer, M., & Forbes, D. (2009). Caring for carers in the aftermath of trauma. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 18, 313–330. doi:10.1080/10926770902835899

- Public Safety Canada. (2013a). *Canada's national disaster mitigation strategy*. Retrieved from http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/mtgtn-strtgy/mtgtn-strtgy-eng.pdf
- Public Safety Canada. (2013b). *Canadian disaster database* [Interactive database].

 Retrieved from http://cdd.publicsafety.gc.ca/dtpg-eng.aspx?cultureCode=en-Ca&boundingBox=&provinces=1&eventTypes=%27FL%27&eventStartDate=%2720050101%27,%2720141231%27&injured=&evacuated=&totalCost=&dead=&normalizedCostYear=1&eventId=585
- Range, K. (2013). Protecting Albertans from future floods [Press release]. Retrieved from http://alberta.ca/release.cfm?xID=3525407F82569-C375-ACEB-66CCC4FAAA2DEAD0
- Rubonis, A. V., & Bickman, L. (1991). Psychological impairment in the wake of disaster:

 The disaster-psychopathology relationship. *Psychological Bulletin*, 109, 384–99.

 doi:10.1037/0033-2909.109.3.384
- Saakvitne, K. W. (2002). Shared trauma: The therapist's increased vulnerability.

 *Psychoanalytic Dialogues, 12, 443-449. doi:10.1080/10481881209348678
- Satterly, B. A. (2006). Therapist self-disclosure from a gay male perspective. *Families in Society*, 87, 240–247. doi:10.1606/1044-3894.3517
- Simi, N. L., & Mahalik, J. R. (1997). Comparison of feminist versus psychoanalytic/dynamic and other therapists on self-disclosure. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *21*, 465-483. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.1997.tb00125.x
- Simon, J. C. (1988). Criteria for therapist self-disclosure. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 42, 404–415.

- Simone, D. H., McCarthy, P., & Skay, C. L. (1998). An investigation of client and counselor variables that influence likelihood of counselor self-disclosure. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 76, 174-182. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.1998.tb02390.x
- Smith, B. W., & Freedy, J. R. (2000). Psychosocial resource loss as a mediator of the effects of flood exposure on psychological distress and physical symptoms.

 **Journal of Traumatic Stress, 13, 349–357. doi:10.1023/A:1007745920466*
- Splevins, K. A., Cohen, K., Joseph, S., Murray, C., & Bowley, J. (2010). Vicarious posttraumatic growth among interpreters. *Qualitative health research*, 20, 1705–1716. doi:10.1177/1049732310377457
- Stanley, S. R., Bulecza, S., & Gopalani, S. (2012). Psychological impact of disasters on communities. *Annual Review of Nursing Research*, *30*, 89-123. doi:10.1891/0739-6686.30.89
- Stanton, A. L., & Low, C. A. (2004). Toward understanding posttraumatic growth:

 Commentary on Tedeschi and Calhoun. *Psychological Inquiry*, *15*, 76-80.

 Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/20447206
- Stasko, E. C., & Ickovics, J. R. (2007). Traumatic growth in the face of terrorism:

 Threshold effects and action-based growth. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 56, 386-395. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00294.x
- Statistics Canada. (2012). Population and dwelling counts, for Canada, provinces and territories, and census subdivisions (municipalities), 2011 and 2006 censuses (Alberta) [Database record]. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-

- recensement/2011/dp-pd/hlt-fst/pd-pl/Table-Tableau.cfm?LANG=Eng&T=302&PR=47&S=51&O=A&RPP=25
- Tang, C. S. (2006). Positive and negative postdisaster psychological adjustment among adult survivors of the Southeast Asian earthquake-tsunami. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *61*, 699–705. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.07.014
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (1996). The posttraumatic growth inventory:

 Measuring the positive legacy of trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 9, 455–471. doi:10.1002/jts.2490090305
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). Posttraumatic growth: Conceptual foundations and empirical evidence. *Psychological Inquiry*, *15*, 1-18. doi:10.1207/s15327965pli1501_01
- Tempesta, D., Curcio, G., De Gennaro, L., & Ferrara, M. (2013). Long-term impact of earthquakes on sleep quality. *PloS ONE*, 8(2), 1-9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055936
- Terminski, B. (2011). Towards recognition and protection of forced environmental migrants in the public international law: Refugee or IDPs umbrella? *Policy Studies Organization (PSO) Summit, December 2011*. Retrieved from http://ssrn.com/abstract=2029796
- Thomas, É., Saumier, D., & Brunet, A. (2012). Peritraumatic distress and the course of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms: A meta-analysis. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 57, 122–129. Retrieved from http://publications.cpa-apc.org/media.php?mid=1328

- Tosone, C. (2006). Therapeutic intimacy: A post-9/11 perspective. *Smith College Studies* in Social Work, 76, 89–98. doi:10.1300/J497v76n04_12
- Tosone, C., Bialkin, L., Campbell, M., Charters, M., Gieri, K., Gross, S., . . . Stefan, A. (2003). Shared trauma: Group reflections on the September 11th disaster.

 *Psychoanalytic Social Work, 10, 57–77. doi:10.1300/J032v10n01_06
- Tosone, C., Nuttman-Shwartz, O., & Stephens, T. (2012). Shared trauma: When the professional is personal. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 40, 231–239.
- Viero, D., D'Alpaos, A., Carniello, L., & Defina, A. (2013). Mathematical modeling of flooding due to river bank failure. *Advances in Water Resources*, 59, 82–94. doi:10.1016/j.advwatres.2013.05.011
- Wang, C. W., Chan, C. L. W., & Ho, R. T. H. (2013). Prevalence and trajectory of psychopathology among child and adolescent survivors of disasters: A systematic review of epidemiological studies across 1987-2011. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 48, 1697–1720. doi:10.1007/s00127-013-0731-x
- Wilby, R. L., & Keenan, R. (2012). Adapting to flood risk under climate change.

 Progress in Physical Geography, 36, 348–378. doi:10.1177/0309133312438908
- Young, M. E. (2008). *Learning the art of helping: Building blocks and techniques* (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Education.
- Zang, Y., Hunt, N., & Cox, T. (2014). Adapting narrative exposure therapy for Chinese earthquake survivors: A pilot randomized controlled feasibility study. *BMC*Psychiatry, 14, 262. doi:10.1186/s12888-014-0262-3

Zur, O. (2004). To cross or not to cross: Do boundaries in therapy protect or harm?

Psychotherapy Bulletin, 39, 27-32. Retrieved from

http://www.zurinstitute.com/to_cross_or_not_to_cross.pdf

Recovery After a Flood

A practical manual for mental health clinicians



Created by Johnathan Bown, B.A.

University of Lethbridge

Master of Education Project

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	60
Copyright	61
Limitations	62
Preamble	63
Section 1: Basic Knowledge	64
Impact	65
Post-traumatic Growth	69
Shared Trauma	69
Boundaries	70
Ethics	72
Section 2: Strategies	74
Disorders	75
Cognitive-Behaviour Therapy (CBT)	75
Self-disclosure	76
Narrative Exposure Therapy	77
Sleep Hygiene	78
Post-traumatic growth	79
Conclusion	80
Additional Resources.	80
References	81

© Copyright 2015

Johnathan Bown

All material found in the manual are subject to copyright and may not be used outright without the permission of the author. Please email: bown@uleth.ca for inquiries.

Limitations

This manual is limited in that it has not been empirically evaluated. The information contained has been gathered from peer-reviewed research; however, it has never before been organized and/or interpreted into a practical application. This manual does not include every intervention, theory, or concept effective for, or related to, the topics addressed.

Preamble

Floods accounted for 49% of types of natural disasters in 2012, are the most common type of natural disaster around the world (Guah-sapir, Hoyois, & Below, 2012), and the most costly in Canada (Government of Canada, 2001). Strong evidence shows that floods can have powerful and long-term negative effects on mental health (Green, 1998; Kõlves, Kõlves, & De Leo, 2013; Rubonis & Bickman, 1991), and can lead to post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, and anxiety (Neria, Nandi, & Galea, 2008; North & Pfefferbaum, 2013; Wang, Chan, & Ho, 2013). Shared trauma is a situation when the helpers are victims themselves. The situation is complex and the therapeutic dynamics for counsellors sometimes become unpredictable. In such cases, it is often difficult to avoid making self-disclosures – however, some research has pointed to the benefit of doing so (Baum, 2010; Lijtmaer, 2010; Tosone, Nuttman-Shwartz, & Stephens 2012). In some cases, and with careful navigation, traumatic events can be transformed into opportunities to grow, (Joseph, Murphy, & Regel, 2012).

The author's hope is that this manual can free up some of the reader's energy and resources, which are at a premium, so that they may focus more of their efforts on their clients.

Section 1: Basic Knowledge

- Section 1 –

BASIC KNOWLEDGE

Section 1: Basic Knowledge

So there's been a disastrous flood? Mental health workers need to know:

- Floods are the **most common** natural disaster in the world
- Floods are the **most disruptive** natural disaster to daily life
- ➤ Floods, compared to other types of natural disaster, affect the **largest number of** people
- ➤ Floods, compared to other types of natural disaster, cause the **most property** damage

Impact

Floods affect more and more people as the size of the global population grows, Earth's climate changes, and more people settle in coastal regions or flood zones. Research has shown that flood disasters lead to powerful and life-changing psychological effects for some of the survivors – which may not fully develop for up to 24 months. The following definition and symptomologies are based on information in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

- 1. The clinical disorder that occurs most commonly after a flood is **post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)**. A complete diagnosis of PTSD requires the presence of symptoms for at least one month and functional impairment, among other criteria. You can predict the onset of PTSD by looking for the following behavioural markers:
 - I. *Re-experiencing* The disturbing event is persistently re-experienced in some way, such as with recurrent intrusive memories, nightmares, dissociative reactions (flashbacks), prolonged distress after the threat has passed, and/or prolonged exaggerated physiological reactivity after the event has passed.
 - II. Avoidance Effortful avoidance of either trauma-related feelings or trauma-related external reminders like objects, people, or places.
 - III. Negative Cognitions Negative alterations in mood or thoughts that worsened after the event. A diagnosis of PTSD requires two of the following: inability to recall key features of the event, persistent and distorted negative beliefs

Section 1: Basic Knowledge

- IV. about self or the world, persistent trauma-related negative emotions, significantly diminished interest in pre-traumatic event activities, feeling alienated from others, and/or persistent inability to experience positive emotions.
- V. Arousal Trauma-related alterations in arousal or reactivity that began or worsened after the event. A diagnosis of PTSD requires two of the following: Irritable or aggressive behaviour, self-destructive behaviour, hypervigilance, exaggerated startle response, problems in concentration, and/or sleep disturbance.
- 2. The second most common clinical disorder is **depression**. A complete diagnosis requires the presence of symptoms concurrently within a two-week period, which must be a change from previous functioning. One of the first two criteria, and a final total of five criteria, must be present in order to formally give a diagnosis of depression. You can predict the onset or presence of a major depressive episode from the following symptoms:
 - I. Depressed mood Most of the day nearly every day, as indicated either by self-report or the observations of others.
 - II. Loss of interest Markedly diminished interest or pleasure in most activities for the majority of time awake.
 - III. Weight change A change in body weight of more than five percent in a month when not dieting.
 - IV. *Sleep disturbance* Inability to sleep or sleeping significantly more than usual.

- V. *Psychomotor disturbance* Third-party reports of agitated or slowed body movements nearly every day.
- VI. Low energy Fatigue nearly every day.
- VII. Negative beliefs of self Feelings of worthlessness or inappropriate guilt nearly every day.
- VIII. *Lack of* focus Diminished ability to concentrate or increased indecisiveness nearly every day.
- IX. *Preoccupation with thoughts of death* Recurrent thoughts of death or suicidal ideation.
- 3. The third most common clinical disorder is **anxiety**. A complete diagnosis requires the presence of three or more of the following symptoms more days than not within a six month period. You can predict the onset or presence of generalized anxiety disorder from the following symptoms:
 - I. *Restlessness* Restlessness or feeling keyed up or on edge.
 - II. Fatigue Being easily fatigued.
 - III. Poor focus Difficulty concentrating or mind going blank.
 - IV. *Irritability* Feeling irritable.
 - V. *Physical tension* Muscle tension.
 - VI. Sleep disturbance Difficulty falling or staying asleep

4. Research has demonstrated that for at least two years after a natural disaster, survivors can experience **reduced sleep quality** and disruptive nocturnal behaviours. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index is an empirically proven screen for quickly making an assessment for the client. A score of "5" or great indicates poor sleep quality.

The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)

		nth. Please answer al			•
-	sually gone to bed?				
	utes) has it taken you to fall asleep each night?				
•	ually gotten up in the morning?				
4. How many hours	of actual sleep do you get at night? (This may be d	lifferent than the nui	nber of hours yo	u spend in bed)	
5. During the past m	onth, how often have you	Not during	Less than	Once or	Three or
had trouble sleepir		the past	once a	twice a	more times
		month (0)	week (1)	week (2)	week (3)
a. Cannot get to	sleep within 30 minutes				
b. Wake up in the middle of the night or early morning					
c. Have to get u	p to use the bathroom				
d. Cannot breathe comfortably					
e. Cough or sno	re loudly				
f. Feel too cold					
g. Feel too hot					
h. Have bad drea	ams				
i. Have pain					
j. Other reason(s), please describe, including how often you				
have had troub	le sleeping because of this reason(s):				
	onth, how often have you taken medicine r the counter") to help you sleep?				
	onth, how often have you had trouble staying g, eating meals, or engaging in social activity?				
	onth, how much of a problem has it been for nusiasm to get things done?				
		Very good (0)	Fairly good (1)	Fairly bad (2)	Very bad (3)
9. During the past m	onth, how would you rate your sleep				
quality overall?					
Component 1	#9 Score				
Component 2	#2 Score (≤15min=0; 16-30 min=1; 31-60 min=2, >60 min=3) + #5a Score (if sum is equal 0=0; 1-2=1; 3-4=2; 5-6=3)				C2
Component 3	#4 Score (>7=0; 6-7=1; 5-6=2; <5=3)				C3
Component 4	(total # of hours asleep)/(total # of hours in bed) x 100 >85%=0, 75%-84%=1, 65%-74%=2, <65%=3				
Component 5	Sum of Scores #5b to #5j (0=0; 1-9=1; 10-18=2; 19-27=3)				
Component 6	#6 Score				
	ponent 7 #7 Score + #8 Score (0=0; 1-2=1; 3-4=2; 5-6=3)				

Buysse, D.J., Reynolds III, C.F., Monk, T.H., Berman, S.R., & Kupfer, D.J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 28(2), 193-213.

Reprinted with permission from copyright holder for educational purposes per the University of Pittsburgh, Sleep Medicine Institute, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) website at https://www.sleep.pitt.edu/content.asp?id=1484&subid=2316.

Post-traumatic Growth

Despite the multitude of potential negative consequences from a flood, survivors can ultimately be empowered to feel stronger or make positive changes in their lives due to their traumatic experience. Research has demonstrated that in order for this phenomenon to occur, an individual needs to experience a significant challenge to core cognitive schemas, stressor-induced distress, and some cognitive processing of the event (Stanton & Low, 2004).

Post-traumatic growth is an organismic event that proceeds holistically and towards improvement in the individual within three domains:

- I. Enhanced relationships People come to value their friends and family more and/or feel more compassion towards others. People tend to express more altruistic thoughts and behaviours while they more intensely appreciate their relationships.
- II. Positive self-perception People become more optimistic about themselves and others. This can include increased self-acceptance, wisdom, and feelings of being more resilient.
- III. Developed personal philosophy Personal philosophies of life tend to become more clear and purposeful. People tend to experience increased value in each day and shift their energy towards more meaningful activities.

Shared Trauma

Shared trauma is a situation that describes a client and counsellor dyad, where both people are victims of the same historical traumatic event. After a natural disaster, when resources are thin and survivors need support the most, many mental health workers must attempt to give help while feeling personally strained or even triggered by the help they give. Boundary shifts are common, and Baum (2010) suggests they exist in two categories.

- I. The therapist's internal separation between personal and professional selves appears to weaken. Their thoughts and feelings become increasingly intrusive and intense during counselling sessions. The effect can be so draining that professional performance is impacted and the ability to be empathetic in certain situations is compromised as a result of the therapist's preoccupation with inner dialogue.
- II. The second compromised relationship boundary is the therapeutic dyad. Primarily, the asymmetrical nature of the relationship (which allows the clients to receive help without perceiving the need to reciprocate) is altered. This shift may occur from the apparent distress and increased defensiveness of the therapist (Tosone, 2006), or from the client's growing empathy for the therapist's personal difficulties.

Boundaries

Therapy is inherently an asymmetric relationship, such that the therapist is there to give and not receive. When this is compromised (e.g., equalized when both therapist and client gain a shared identity as flood survivors), many hazards appear in counselling as well as ethical concerns. Although there are differing opinions to what constitutes a boundary violation based on theoretical perspectives, there is one guiding question you must adhere to: **Does this serve my client's therapeutic best interests?**

After a shared trauma incident, research as shown that boundary shifts do occur. The following is an outline of the various shifts you should look out for and some potential consequences.

I. The *real relationship* is altered as clients may perceive their therapists as being vulnerable. If so, clients may start to empathize or sympathize, which can undermine the process of therapy. Clients may feel protective and withhold disturbing details or stories in an attempt to shelter their therapists.

- II. *Transference and countertransference* can lead to problems as the sharing of personal stories and hardships trigger memories in the opposite person. Therapists may be targets of increased transference due to the shared trauma and this can lead to both positive and negative outcomes. Changes in transference will shift the relationship and that carries the risk of boundary violations. Therapists must be cautious in shared trauma scenarios to avoid countertransference, which is an increased risk due to familiar problems that clients inevitably present.
- III. The *working alliance* may be compromised by physical obstacles such as an uninhabitable office due to floods or from service restrictions due to increased demand and strained supply. During these times, the professional structure of therapeutic service delivery is impacted and compromises might be made. Professional boundaries are at risk of being discarded for convenience, such as agreeing to see a client at your home or meeting for lunch. Each avenue carries additional risks of serious violations like treating your client to lunch after they explain how the insurance company will not be covering the loss of their home.

The proper maintenance of professional boundaries includes, but is not limited to, the following:

- Regularly scheduled sessions, rescheduling only for emergencies;
- Sessions all occur in one professionally designated office for all clients;
- The location of therapy is private;
- Clients are billed on a regular basis;
- Clients pay on a regular basis;
- The therapist is transparent about professional beliefs and practices;
- Confidentiality is ardently maintained;
- The focus of therapy is on the client; and
- The therapist adheres to all assumed standards of practice and ethical codes.

Ethics

The nature of a shared trauma situation, especially immediately after the catastrophic events, is an opportunity for many ethical dilemmas to arise. Most likely, therapists will need to navigate some of the following ethical problems:

- The ability to work Therapists may feel the need to continue supporting clients yet is already contending with overwhelming crises in their personal lives. Therapists may also have the need to maintain an income, which puts pressure on returning to work even if they are not mentally prepared.
- A location to work If the office is unavailable, therapists may consider having clients meet at their home, or vice versa. Public locations may not offer privacy and raise the question of ethical record keeping.
- Who to prioritize A therapist may have increased demand for their time among clients with various needs. Considerations may be required about extending work hours or reserving time for specific people, but such actions may lead to favouritism.
- **How to charge** After a client loses most or all of their assets, a therapist may be faced with deciding what to charge. Many clients will be strained financially and therapists may desire to excuse their fees. In shared trauma situation, the therapist may have a strong need for the income, but clients in crisis may not be able to pay.

In deciding a course of action for any of the above situations, all mental health workers are advised to rely on the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists ethical decision making model (Canadian Psychological Association, 2000):

- I. Identification of the individuals and groups potentially affected by the decision.
- II. Identification of ethically relevant issues and practices, including the interests, rights, and any relevant characteristics of the individuals and groups involved and of the system or circumstances in which the ethical problem arose.
- III. Consideration of how personal biases, stresses, or self-interest might influence the development of, or choice, between courses of action.

- IV. Development of alternative courses of action.
- V. Analysis of likely short-term, ongoing, and long-term risks and benefits of each course of action on the individual(s)/group(s) involved or likely to be affected (e.g., client, client's family or employees, employing institution, students, research participants, colleagues, the discipline, society, self).
- VI. Choice of course of action after conscientious application of existing principles, values, and standards.
- VII. Action, with a commitment to assume responsibility for the consequences of the action.
- VIII. Evaluation of the results of the course of action.
 - IX. Assumption of responsibility for consequences of the action, including correction of negative consequences, if any, or re-engaging in the decision-making process if the ethical issue is not resolved.
 - X. Appropriate action, as warranted and feasible, to prevent future occurrences of the dilemma (e.g., communication and problem solving with colleagues; changes in procedures and practices)

- Section 2 —

STRATEGIES

This section provides concise and directive guidance for practitioners should they find themselves in a shared trauma situation.

Firstly, DON'T PANIC.

Disorders

Secondly, assess for the common disorders. Screen for symptoms of:

- Post-traumatic stress disorder
- Major depressive episode
- Generalized anxiety disorder
- Sleep-disturbances

The first-line psychotherapeutic treatment for all of these disorders is **cognitive-behaviour therapy**. Additional treatments and considerations are below.

Cognitive-Behaviour Therapy (CBT)

First, (a) build rapport and trust, (b) set goals with the client, then (c) plan treatment by selecting interventions. Below are some of the most commonly used techniques, but the list is not exhaustive.

- **Psychoeducation** Introduce the client to the CBT model: Thoughts lead to emotions, which lead to actions. By targeting dysfunctional thinking, we can change feelings.
- **Thought-change record** A self-report record of noticed automatic thoughts with columns to indicate associate emotions with scaled intensity ratings. Also included are potential thoughts they could be replaced with, followed by a scaled re-evaluation of the original thought.
- Examining the evidence A document with a selected core belief that client and counsellor systematically list all the evidence for and against the reality of the belief. Emphasis on cognitive errors.
- **Socratic questioning** Questions designed to compel the client to think abstractly or to think through ideas they have not previously considered.
- **Exposure therapy** Guided and monitored gradual exposure (physical or visual) to distressing stimuli paired with deescalating techniques and/or talk therapy.

Self-disclosure

Thirdly, consider the role of **self-disclosure** in therapy. Given the complex situation of flood disaster aftermath and the threat against relationship boundaries, the question of whether or not you should self-disclose your flood experience is at the forefront. Disclosures sometimes occur unintentionally due to many factors such as living in a small community or through body-language and appearance. If used properly, they can be powerful transformative techniques for disaster recovery. Self-disclosures depend heavily on the quality of the existing therapeutic relationship (Bishop & Lane, 2001), and the details are below.

There are seven types of self-disclosures therapists can make (Knox & Hill, 2003) – in short:

- I. *Facts* Communication about the therapist's personal information. This type of disclosure is **OK**, as it normalizes the situation for the client.
- II. Feelings Communication about the therapist's personal emotions. This type of disclosure is **OK**, as it validates the client.
- III. Insight The description of a time when the therapist had a realization or personal discovery. This type of disclosure is **OK**, as it can model post-traumatic growth.
- IV. Strategy The description of actions the therapist personally took to overcome a problem. Therapists should **AVOID** this type of disclosure, as it can be interpreted as advice and/or can be exploitative.
- V. Reassurance Similar to disclosing feelings, except that they communicate empathy or shared experience. Therapists should **AVOID** this type of disclosure, as it can undermine the relationship if the client begins to sympathize with the therapist and attempts to avoid causing them distress through their stories.

- VI. *Challenge* Recounts of when the therapist dealt with a similar issue the client was having, but more successfully. Therapists should **AVOID** this type of disclosure, as it is disempowering to the client and unhelpful.
- VII. Immediacy A communication to the client during the session to describe thoughts or feelings the therapist has in that moment, which are relevant to the discussion. This type of disclosure is **OK**, as it builds rapport and highlights interactional processes occurring in the moment.

NOTE: If self-disclosure is used, either intentionally or not, and the client begins asking more follow-up questions it is important to quickly redirect back to the client. If not, a role reversal may occur which violates professional and ethical standards (Lazarus & Zur, 2002). Also, self-disclosure should not be used with clients who have very defensive beliefs about personal boundaries or who respond negatively to compliments (Geller, 2003).

Narrative Exposure Therapy

Narrative exposure therapy is a short-term treatment with promising results for post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms following a natural disaster. Revising the protocol, as below, has proven effective to reduce symptoms and encourage post-traumatic growth (Zang, Hunt, & Cox, 2014). Please note that this protocol has not been extensively tested for efficacy.

- Session schedule: 3 or more sessions, 60-120 minutes in duration, 1-2 days apart
- **Session 1:** Introduction, pre-treatment diagnostics, psychoeducation
 - During this session you will seek informed consent and educate the client on what this therapy will look like. Administer the appropriate measures or screening instruments to identify the possible symptoms associated with common disorders described in Section 1. Discuss the brain model (e.g., neuroplasticity) and the dangers in avoidance.

- **Session 2:** Begin flood narration
 - Facilitate narration beginning at birth and proceed swiftly towards the traumatic flood event, but be careful not to compel the client past important life events too forcefully.
- **Session 3:** Continue narration if needed
 - o Focus on the events related to the flood and associated trauma symptoms.
- Last session: Create lifeline, narrate from birth to present including flood disaster, read final autobiography.
 - Depending on resources, you may wish to create a lifeline with the client (e.g., flowers and stones, different colored cards, or simply drawing on paper). Have the client narrate this lifeline once complete from birth to death. The therapist may read the final autobiography as a summary for the client.

Sleep Hygiene

In addition to cognitive-behaviour techniques for reducing sleep disturbance, the following guidelines should be implemented and supported with cognitive skills and/or behavioural programs.

- **Avoid napping during the day.** Naps can disrupt a person's normal sleep pattern and shift circadian rhythms.
- Avoid stimulants close to bedtime. All stimulants diminish the depth and restfulness of sleep. Stimulants prevent the body from getting the rejuvenating rest it needs. The most common stimulants are caffeine and nicotine. Alcohol can have a stimulating effect during the withdrawal phase.
- **Exercise.** Exercise promotes healthy restful sleep and can assist with falling asleep. Vigorous exercise should be avoided at night, but slow exercise is OK.
- **Avoid food right before sleep.** Large meals before bedtime lead to shifts in blood sugar that can interfere with proper sleep.
- **Exposure to natural light.** Getting enough natural light is important for the brain's natural rhythms of sleeping and wakefulness.

- Establish a regular bedtime routine. A routine will condition people to fall asleep when the cues are perceived.
- Use the bed only for sleeping. Do not watch TV or read books in bed, as that conditions the brain to stay awake in bed.
- **Proper bedroom environment.** A supportive and comfortable mattress, darkness, silence, and a cool temperature are ideal.

Post-traumatic Growth

Therapists can promote the experience of post-traumatic growth in several ways. Often, a flood provides the foundation for growth despite the hardships, and occasionally survivors need some support to capitalize on it. The following areas of a client's life should be explored when appropriate and nurtured:

- I. *Interpersonal relationships* Explore the supportive role that specific people have played in the client's life related to the trauma. Emphasize the support that the client has been able to give to those they care about. If appropriate, highlight the strength of the therapeutic relationship.
- II. Positive self-regard Explore the resilience and strength the client expressed during and after the traumatic event. Consider the application of motivational interviewing and strength-based approaches to therapy. Explore the changes in the client's self-perception and look for areas of increased self-acceptance and/or wisdom.
- III. Personal philosophies Explore and develop the client's beliefs about life, existence, and purpose. Consider integrating theories of existential therapy. Focus on the perceived value of each day and highlight areas of new or reinforced meaning in the client's life.

Conclusion

This guide was intended to be a scaffold for therapists to cling to in the midst of a shared trauma scenario post-natural disaster. The complexities of the situation can be overwhelming and giving care and attention to clients can be made more difficult. Certain disorders are common after a flood and therefore can be targeted by helpers. However, the element of self-disclosure becomes a serious consideration – given the shared circumstances. Occasionally, the choice to self-disclose is not given.

The author's hope is that this guide can serve therapists by giving them clear and safe guidelines for dealing with shared trauma, disaster recovery, and the amplified role of self-disclosure after a flood. This manual is not meant to be exhaustive; rather it is a quick reference for a likely-to-be-successful holistic approach to helping clients after a flood disaster, which allows therapists to direct more of their energy and resources to their clients' increased need for support.

And most importantly, in the words of Douglas Adams: DON'T PANIC.

Additional Resources

Traumatic stress guide

http://www.helpguide.org/articles/ptsd-trauma/traumatic-stress.htm

Dealing with trauma: A self-help guide

http://store.samhsa.gov/shin/content/SMA-3717/SMA-3717.pdf

A discussion about shared trauma and how to cope

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/10481881209348678

Disasters and Behavioral Health – Helping Survivors Recover from Trauma

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=txT3PiQPO7E

Alberta Flood Relief Calming Hypnosis June 2013

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9p8AAvgvthY

First Steps to Salvage Water-logged Objects

http://www.museums.ab.ca/media/33398/first_steps_to_salvage_water-logged_objects.pdf

References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). Washington, D.C: Author.
- Baum, N. (2010). Shared traumatic reality in communal disasters: Toward a conceptualization. *Psychotherapy*, 47, 249–259. doi:10.1037/a0019784
- Bishop, J., & Lane, R. (2001). Self-disclosure and the therapeutic frame: Concerns for novice practitioners. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, *31*, 245–256. doi:10.1023/A:1015325727981
- Canadian Psychological Association. (2000). *Canadian code of ethics for psychologists* (3rd ed.). Ottawa, ON: Author.
- Geller, J. (2003). Self-disclosure in psychoanalytic-existential therapy. Journal of Clinical *Psychology*, *59*, 541–554. doi:10.1002/jclp.10158
- Green, B. L. (1998). Psychological responses to disasters: Conceptualization and identification of high-risk survivors. *Psychiatry & Clinical Neurosciences*, *52*, 67-73. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1819.1998.0520s5S67
- Guha-sapir, D., Hoyois, P., & Below, R. (2012). *Annual disaster statistical review 2012: The numbers and trends*. Retrieved from http://reliefweb.int/report/world/annual-disaster-statistical-review-2012-numbers-and-trends
- Government of Canada, Office of Critical Infrastructure Protection and Emergency

 Preparedness. (2001). Managing flood hazard and risk: Report of an independent

 expert panel (Catalogue No.: D82-70/2002E-IN). Retrieved from

 http://publications.gc.ca/collections/Collection/D82-70-2002E.pdf

- Joseph, S., Murphy, D., & Regel, S. (2012). An affective-cognitive processing model of post-traumatic growth. *Clinical Psychology &P*, 19, 316–325. doi:10.1002/cpp.1798
- Knox, S., & Hill, C. E. (2003). Therapist self-disclosure: Research-based suggestions for practitioners. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59, 529-539. doi:10.1002/jclp.10157
- Kõlves, K., Kõlves, K. E., & De Leo, D. (2013). Natural disasters and suicidal behaviours: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *146*, 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2012.07.037
- Lazarus, A. A., & Zur, O. (Eds.). (2002). *Dual relationships and psychotherapy*.

 Retrieved from http://www.zurinstitute.com/dualarguments.html
- Lijtmaer, R. (2010). Reflections: Can the analyst share a traumatizing experience with a traumatized patient?. *The Journal of the American Academy of Psychoanalysis and Dynamic Psychiatry*, 38, 677–692. doi:10.1521/jaap.2010.38.4.685
- Neria, Y., Nandi, a, & Galea, S. (2008). Post-traumatic stress disorder following disasters: A systematic review. *Psychological Medicine*, 38, 467–80. doi:10.1017/S0033291707001353
- North, C. S., & Pfefferbaum, B. (2013). Mental health response to community disasters:

 A systematic review. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*,

 310, 507–18. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.107799
- Rubonis, A. V., & Bickman, L. (1991). Psychological impairment in the wake of disaster:

 The disaster-psychopathology relationship. *Psychological Bulletin*, *109*, 384–99.

 doi:10.1037/0033-2909.109.3.384

- Stanton, A. L., & Low, C. A. (2004). Toward understanding posttraumatic growth:

 Commentary on Tedeschi and Calhoun. *Psychological Inquiry*, *15*, 76-80.

 Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/20447206
- Tosone, C. (2006). Therapeutic intimacy: A post-9/11 perspective. *Smith College Studies* in Social Work, 76, 89–98. doi:10.1300/J497v76n04_12
- Tosone, C., Nuttman-Shwartz, O., & Stephens, T. (2012). Shared trauma: When the professional is personal. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 40, 231–239. doi:10.1007/s10615-012-0395-0
- Wang, C. W., Chan, C. L. W., & Ho, R. T. H. (2013). Prevalence and trajectory of psychopathology among child and adolescent survivors of disasters: A systematic review of epidemiological studies across 1987-2011. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 48, 1697–1720. doi:10.1007/s00127-013-0731-x
- Zang, Y., Hunt, N., & Cox, T. (2014). Adapting narrative exposure therapy for Chinese earthquake survivors: A pilot randomized controlled feasibility study. *BMC*Psychiatry, 14, 262. doi:10.1186/s12888-014-0262-3